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Consolidated and Company’s statements of comprehensive income 
  2014 

 Notes Group  Company 

     
     
Revenue 7 794  - 
     
Interest income  1  617 

Other income  13   

Net changes in fair value of subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss 5 -  (120)
     
Legal, professional and securities administration fees   (149)  (89)

Allowance for (reversal of) impairment of trade receivables  13 (98)  - 

Direct property operating expenses  (77)  - 

Employee benefits expense   (72)  (11)

Depreciation and amortisation   (7)  -

Other expenses   (24)  (11)

Operating profit   381  386 
    
Finance costs  (1)  (1) 
    
Profit before income tax  380  385 
     
Income tax expense 8 (71)  (76)

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  309  309 
     
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  -  - 
     
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  309  309 

Attributable to:     

Equity holders of the parent  309  309 

     

Basic and diluted earnings per share (in LTL) 9 0.09   
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Consolidated and Company’s statements of financial position 
  As at 31 December 2014 
 Notes Group  Company 

ASSETS     

Non-current assets     

Property, plant and equipment  3  - 

Investment properties 10 36,456  - 

Intangible assets  11  - 

Investments into subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss 5 -  16,800 

Loans granted to subsidiaries 12 -  16,943 

Deferred income tax asset 8 15  15 

Total non-current assets  36,485  33,758 

     

Current assets     

Trade and other receivables 13 78  - 

Prepayments and deferred charges  4  - 

Cash and cash equivalents 3.1 726  587 

Total current assets  808  587 
     
TOTAL ASSETS  37,293  34,345 

 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES     
Equity     

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent     
Share capital 6, 14 3,294  3,294 
Own shares 14 (21)  (21)
Share premium 6, 14 4,789  4,789 
Reserves 6, 14 11,113  11,113 
Retained earnings  6, 14 15,115  15,115 
Total equity  34,290  34,290 
     
Liabilities     
Non-current liabilities      
Deferred income tax liability 8 2,889  - 
Total non-current liabilities  2,889  - 
  

Current liabilities      
Trade payables  12  10 
Income tax payable  30  23 

Advances received  50  - 
Other current liabilities  22  22 
Total current liabilities  114  55 

 
 

 Total liabilities  3,003  55 
     TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   37,293  34,345 
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Consolidated and Company’s statements of changes in equity 
 

     Reserves   

Group Notes Share capital Own shares Share premium Legal reserve 

Reserve for 
purchase of own 

shares Retained earnings  Total 
         
The Group’s equity formed on 29 April 2014 under 

split-off conditions according to predecessor 
values method 6 3,294 - 4,789 454 10,659 14,806 34,002 

Own shares buy back 14 - (21) - - - - (21)

Total transactions with owners of the 
Company, recognised directly in equity   3,294 (21) 4,789 454 10,659 14,806 33,981 

Net profit for the year  - - - - - 309 309 

Total comprehensive income for the  year  - - - - - 309 309 

Balance as at 31 December  2014 
 

3,294 (21) 4,789 454 10,659 15,115 34,290 

 

     Reserves   

Company Notes Share capital Own shares Share premium Legal reserve 

Reserve for 
purchase of own 

shares Retained earnings  Total 
         
The Company’s share capital formed on 29 April 

2014 under split-off conditions 6 3,294 - 4,789 454 10,659 3,998 23,194 

Changes in accounting policies 2.9 - - - - - 10,808 10,808 

Own shares buy back 14 - (21) - - - - (21)

Total transactions with owners of the Company, 
recognised directly in equity   3,294 (21) 4,789 454 10,659 14,806 33,981 

Net profit for the year  - - - - - 309 309 

Total comprehensive income for the  year  - - - - - 309 309 

Balance as at 31 December  2014 
 

3,294 (21) 4,789 454 10,659 15,115 34,290 
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Consolidated and Company’s statements of cash flows 
  2014 
 

Notes 
Group  Company 

     
Cash flows from (to) operating activities    
Net profit for the year  309  309 
Adjustments for non-cash items and non-operating activities:     

Depreciation and amortization  7  - 
Net changes in fair value of subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss 5 -  120 
Interest income  (1)  (617)
Interest expenses  1  1 
Deferred taxes 8 41  53 
Current income tax expenses 8 30  23 
Allowances  98  - 

     
Changes in working capital:     

Decrease (increase) in trade and other receivables  (96)  - 
Decrease (increase)  in other current assets  4  - 
(Decrease) increase in trade payables  (19)  10 
(Decrease) increase in other current liabilities  11  22 

Cash flows from (to) operating activities  385  (79)
Income tax paid  (6)  - 
Net cash flows from (to) operating activities   379  (79)

 

Cash flows from (to) investing activities     
Repayment of granted loans  1,657  2,229 
Interest received  1  389 
Net cash flows from (to) investing activities  1,658  2,618 
    
Cash flows from (to) financing activities    
Cash flows related to Group owners    

Cash received according to split-off terms 6 979  338 
Acquisition of own shares  (21)  (21)

  958  317 
Cash flows related to other sources of financing     

Repayment of loans 6 (2,268)  (2,268)
Interest paid   (1)  (1)

  (2,269)  (2,269)
     
Net cash flows from (to) financial activities  (1,311)  (1,952)

     
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  726  587 
     Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 6 -  - 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period  726  587 
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Notes to the financial statements 
 
 

1 General information 
 
AB INVL Baltic Farmland (hereinafter the Company) is a joint stock company registered in the Republic of Lithuania. It was 
established on 29 April 2014, following the split-off of 14.45% assets, equity and liabilities from AB Invalda LT (company code 
121304349). Entities, which business is investment into agricultural land and its rent, were transferred to the Company (hereinafter 
split-off). More details about the split-off are disclosed in Note 6.  
 
The Group consists of the Company and its directly owned subsidiaries (hereinafter the Group, Note 5): 
 
The address of the office is Šeimyniškių str. 1A, Vilnius, Lithuania. 
 
These financial statements cover the first financial year of the Company and the Group, starting from the Company’s establishment 
date 29 April 2014 and ending on 31 December 2014.  
 
The Company manages shares of entities investing into agricultural land and provides finance. Now the Company has 100% shares 
in 18 companies owning more than 3 thousand hectares of agricultural land in Lithuania (detailed list of subsidiaries is presented in 
Note 5), that is rented to farmers and agricultural companies. The Company focuses on growth of quality of owned land and 
environmental sustainability. The Group operates in one segment – agricultural land segment. 
 
Investments into agricultural land are classified as long term and are recommended for investors who are satisfied with the return on 
rent and possible income from increase of agricultural land prices. Since prices of agricultural products are determined in the world 
markets, this investment allows participating in the world food supply chain.  
 
The Company’s share capital is divided into 3,294,209 ordinary registered shares with the nominal value of LTL 1 each. All the 
shares of the Company were fully paid. Subsidiaries did not hold any shares of the Company. The Company bought-back 1,950 own 
shares during the implementation of the share buy-back procedure which finished on 30 September 2014. Given the fact that the 
treasury shares do not grant voting rights, the total amount of voting rights in INVL Baltic Farmland equalled to 3,292,259 units as of 
3 October 2014. As at 31 December 2014 the shareholders of the Company were (by votes)*: 
 

 Number of votes 
held Percentage 

   
UAB LJB Investments (controlling shareholder Mr. Alvydas Banys) 1,002,724 30.46 
Mrs. Irena Ona Mišeikienė 952,072 28.92 
UAB Lucrum Investicija (sole shareholder Mr. Darius Šulnis) 743,546 22.58 
Mr. Alvydas Banys 252,875 7.68 
Ms. Indrė Mišeikytė 65,758 2.00 
Other minor shareholders 275,284 8.36 
Total 3,292,259 100.00% 

* Some shareholders have sold part of their shares under repo agreement (so did not hold the legal ownership title of shares), but 
they retained the voting rights of transferred shares. 

 
 
The Company’s shares are traded on the Baltic Secondary List of NASDAQ Vilnius from 4 June 2014. 
 
As at 31 December 2014 the number of employees of the Group and the Company was 5 and 1, respectively.  
 
According to the Law on Companies of Republic of Lithuania, the annual financial statements prepared by the Management are 
authorised by the General Shareholders’ meeting. The shareholders hold the power not to approve the annual financial statements 
and the right to request new financial statements to be prepared. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies 

 
The principal accounting policies applied in preparing the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements for the year ended 
31 December 2014 are as follows: 
 
2.1. Basis of preparation 
 
Statement of compliance 
 
The financial statements of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union (hereinafter the EU). 
 
These financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for investment properties and investments in 
subsidiaries that have been measured at fair value. The financial statements are presented in thousands of Litas (LTL) and all 
values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated. 
 
 
Standards adopted by the EU but not yet effective and have not been early adopted  
 
IFRIC 21 Levies (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 17 June 2014) 
 
The interpretation clarifies the accounting for an obligation to pay a levy that is not income tax. The obligating event that gives rise to 
a liability is the event identified by the legislation that triggers the obligation to pay the levy. The fact that an entity is economically 
compelled to continue operating in a future period, or prepares its financial statements under the going concern assumption, does 
not create an obligation. The same recognition principles apply in interim and annual financial statements. The application of the 
interpretation to liabilities arising from emissions trading schemes is optional. The Group is not currently subjected to significant 
levies so the impact on the Group would be not material. 
 
The following amendments to existing standards are adopted by the EU, but not yet effective, have not been early adopted and are 
not expected to have a material impact on the Company and the Group: 
− Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February 2015); 
− Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2013 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015); 

− Amendments to IAS 19 – Defined benefit plans: Employee contributions (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
February 2015). 

 
 
2.2. Basis of consolidation 
 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries. The financial 
statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as the parent company, using consistent accounting 
policies. 
 
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the group has control. The group controls an entity when the 
group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group 
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. All intra-group balances, transactions, 
income and expenses, unrealised gains and losses and dividends resulting from intra-group transactions that are recognised in 
assets, are eliminated in full. 
 
Non-controlling interest is the equity in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or indirectly, to a parent and is presented separately in 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position, 
separately from parent shareholders’ equity. The group treats transactions with non-controlling interests as transactions with equity 
owners of the group. For purchases from non-controlling interests, the difference between any consideration paid and the relevant 
share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-
controlling interests are also recorded in equity.  
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
2.2 Basis of consolidation (cont’d) 
 
When the group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value, with the change in carrying 
amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the 
retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the group had directly disposed of the related assets or 
liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss or 
retained earnings, as appropriate. 
 
 
2.3. Functional and presentation currency 
 
The financial statements are prepared in Litas (LTL), which was local currency of the Republic of Lithuania, till 31st December of 
2014, and presented in LTL thousand. Litas is the Company’s and the Group’s functional and presentation currency. Starting from 2 
February 2002 until 31 December 2014 Lithuanian Litas is pegged to euro at the rate of 3.4528 Litas for 1 euro. The exchange rates 
in relation to other currencies are set daily by the Bank of Lithuania. 
 
As these financial statements are presented in LTL thousand, individual amounts were rounded. Due to the rounding, totals in the 
tables may not add up. 
 
2.4. Business combinations and goodwill 
 
The group applies the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the 
acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and 
the equity interests issued by the group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a 
contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred from 1 January 2010 (until that they were 
included in the acquisition cost). Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the group 
recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of 
the recognised amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 
 
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and 
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. 
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree. 
 
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair 
value at the acquisition date through profit or loss.  
 
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent 
changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration, which is deemed to be an asset or liability, will be recognised in 
accordance with IAS 39 either in profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is 
classified as equity, it should not be remeasured until it is finally settled within equity. In instances where the contingent 
consideration does not fall within the scope of IAS 39, it is measured in accordance with the appropriate IFRS.  
 
The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair 
value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is 
recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and previously held interest 
measured is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is 
recognised directly in profit or loss. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
2.5. Business combinations under common control 
 
IFRS provides no guidance on the accounting for common control transactions, but requires that entities develop an accounting 
policy for them [IAS 8.10]. The two methods most commonly chosen for accounting for business combinations between entities 
under common control are (1) the acquisition method and (2) the predecessor values method. Once a method has been adopted it 
should be applied consistently as a matter of accounting policy. Neither IFRS 3 nor any other IFRS require or prohibit the application 
of either method to business combinations involving entities under common control.  
 
The Group elected to apply predecessor values method for transactions under common control. The principles of predecessor 
accounting are: 
 

• No assets or liabilities are restated to their fair values. Instead, the acquirer incorporates predecessor carrying values. 
These are the carrying values that are related to the acquired entity. They are generally the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities of the acquired entity from the consolidated financial statements of the highest entity that has common control for 
which consolidated financial statements are prepared. These amounts include any goodwill recorded at the consolidated 
level in respect of the acquired entity. This is because the transaction is under the control of that entity, and it is a portion of 
the controlling entity that is being moved around in the transaction. In some cases, the controlling party, that is, the party 
that controls both combining businesses, may not prepare consolidated financial statements. This can occur, for example, 
because it is not a parent company. In such situations, the book values used are those from the highest set of consolidated 
financial statements available. If no consolidated financial statements are produced, the values used are those from the 
financial statements of the acquired entity. 

• No new goodwill arises in predecessor accounting. The combining entities are looked at from the perspective of a transfer 
made by the controlling party. The transaction is not seen as an equal exchange of values and a change of control from the 
date of the business combination. No goodwill beyond that recorded by the controlling party in relation to the acquiree can 
therefore arise. Predecessor accounting may lead to differences on consolidation. For example, there may be a difference 
between the consideration given and the aggregate book value of the assets and liabilities (as of the date of the 
transaction) of the acquired entity. The differences are included in equity in retained earnings or in a separate reserve. 

 
The Group incorporated the acquired entities results and balance sheets prospectively from the date on which the business 
combination between entities under common control occurred. Consequently, the consolidated financial statements do not reflect 
the results of the acquired entities for the period before the transaction occurred. The corresponding amounts for the previous year 
are also not restated. 
 
2.6. Property, plant and equipment 
 
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, excluding the costs of day to day servicing, less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses. The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or 
change in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line 
method over the estimated useful lives of 3 to 6 years. 
 
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its 
use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the statement of comprehensive income within “other income” in the 
year the asset is derecognised. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
2.7. Investment properties 
 
Properties that are held for long-term rental yields and for capital appreciation are classified as investment properties. 
 
Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment 
properties are carried at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the reporting date. Gains or losses arising from changes in 
the fair values of investment properties are included in profit or loss in the year in which they arise. 
 
Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment property is permanently 
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal 
of an investment property are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income within “Net gains (losses) from fair value 
adjustments on investment property” in the year of retirement or disposal.  
 
2.8. Intangible assets other than goodwill 
 
Intangible assets are measured initially at cost. Intangible assets are recognised if it is probable that future economic benefits that 
are attributable to the asset will flow to the enterprise and the cost of asset can be measured reliably. After initial recognition, 
intangible assets are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. The useful lives of 
intangible assets other than goodwill are assessed to be finite. Intangible assets are amortised using the straight-line method over 
their useful lives of 3 years.  
 
2.9. Investments into subsidiaries (the Company) 
 
Investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s stand-alone financial statements are measured at fair value through profit or loss in 
accordance with IAS 39. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of subsidiaries are recognized in profit and loss within 
“Net changes in fair value of subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss”. 
 
Investments in subsidiaries in stand-alone financial statements of AB Invalda LT, from which the Company was split-off, were 
carried at cost, less impairment. Although the Company has elected to apply the predecessor values method for business 
combinations under common control, it has changed its accounting policy for investments in subsidiaries from cost method to fair 
value method, as the Company believes that fair value model more effectively demonstrates its financial position. If the accounting 
method has not been changed, the carrying value of investments in subsidiaries would be LTL 6,112 thousand as at 29 April 2014 
and 31 December 2014, while the fair value is LTL 16,920 thousand and LTL 16,800 thousand respectively. The result of the 
change in accounting policy of LTL 10,808 thousand was recorded within retained earnings on 29 April 2014 which is the date when 
Company was established and received these investments. 
 
2.10. Financial assets 
 
Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as either financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and 
receivables, held to maturity investments, available-for-sale financial assets, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in 
an effective hedge, as appropriate. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. When 
financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of financial asset or financial liability not at 
fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.  
 
The Group determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. 
 
All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the settlement date. Regular way purchases or sales are 
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or 
convention in the marketplace. 
 
Loans and receivables 
 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. After initial measurement loans and receivables are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition 
and includes fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate and transaction costs. Gains and losses are recognised in 
profit or loss when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through amortisation process. They are 
included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the end of the reporting period. These are classified as 
non-current assets.  
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

 
2.11. Offsetting financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal 
course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the counterparty. 
 
2.12. Impairment of financial assets 
 
Assets carried at amortised cost 
 
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether is any objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is 
impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective 
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and 
that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that 
can be reliably estimated. 
 
The Group assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets. Evidence of impairment may 
include indications that the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in 
interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation, and where observable 
data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic 
conditions that correlate with defaults. When financial asset is assessed as uncollectible the impaired asset is derecognised.  
 
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the 
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future 
cash flows (excluding future expected credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective 
interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for 
measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined under the contract. The carrying amount of the asset 
is reduced through use of an allowance account. The amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss within “Allowance for (reversal 
of) impairment of trade receivables”. 
 
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed. Any subsequent reversal of 
an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss within “Allowance for (reversal of) impairment of trade receivables”, to the extent 
that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. 
 
 
2.13. Cash and cash equivalents  
 
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term deposits with 
an original maturity of three months or less. 
 
For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and in current bank account as well 
as deposit in bank with an original maturity of three months or less.  
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
2.14. Financial liabilities 
 
Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, borrowings, or as 
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The Group determines the classification of its 
financial liabilities at initial recognition. 
 
All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and in the case of borrowings, net of directly attributable transaction costs. 
 
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows: 
 
Trade payables 
 
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from 
suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal operating 
cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities. Trade payables are recognised initially at fair 
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
 
Borrowings  
 
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortised 
cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over the 
period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.  
 
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at 
least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. 
 
 
2.15. Share capital 
 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are recognised 
in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Where any group company purchases the company’s equity share capital 
(treasury shares), the consideration paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is deducted from 
equity attributable to the company’s equity holders until the shares are cancelled or reissued. Where such shares are subsequently 
reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the related income tax 
effects, is included in equity attributable to the company’s equity holders. 
 
The Company’s share capital and equity was formed in accordance with the procedure set forth in the terms of split-off on 29 April 
2014, whereas assets received and liabilities assumed were estimated at predecessor carrying values at the date of split-off, except 
for investments in subsidiaries for which accounting policy was changed and they were revalued at fair value at the date of split-off 
(Note 2.9). The difference between the fair value and the carrying value of investments in subsidiaries was credited to retained 
earnings.  
 
2.16. Leases 
 
Group company is the lessor in an operating lease 
 
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the Group company are classified as 
operating leases. Payments, including pre-payments, received under operating leases (net of any incentives granted to the lessee) 
are credited to the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 
 
Land leased out under operating leases is included in investment property in the consolidated statement of financial position 
(Note 10). See Note 2.17 for the recognition of rental income. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
2.17. Revenue recognition 
 
The group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits 
will flow to the entity and when specific criteria have been met for each of the group’s activities as described below. The group bases 
its estimates on historical results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each 
arrangement. 
 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received, excluding discounts, rebates, and other sales taxes or duty. 
The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised.  
 
Rental income  
 
Rental income arising from operating leases of land is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. When the Group 
provides incentives to its tenants, the cost of incentives is recognised over the lease term, on a straight-line basis, as a reduction of 
rental income. 
 
According to agreements land rent consists of two parts - a fixed rent for a year and a variable part equal to land tax paid to the 
State for the year. In the first quarter fixed rental fee is invoiced to the tenants. In the fourth quarter variable part of the rent is 
invoiced to the tenants, when State tax authorities provide an estimate of the land tax and the rental income equal to the variable 
rent amount as well as land tax expenses are recognised. 
 
Interest income 
 
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. When a loan and receivable is impaired, the group reduces the 
carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash flow discounted at the original effective interest rate of 
the instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as interest income. Interest income on impaired loan and receivables is 
recognised using the original effective interest rate. 
 
2.18. Segment reporting 
 
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. 
The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating 
segments, has been identified as the Board of Directors that makes strategic decisions. All financial information, including the 
measure of profit, total assets and total liabilities, is analysed as single reporting segment -  agricultural land segment, therefore is 
not further disclosed in these financial statements. 
 
 
2.19. Borrowing costs 
 
Borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in 
connection with the borrowing of funds.  
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
2.20. Current and deferred income tax 
 
The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, 
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised directly in equity. 
 
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting 
period in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically 
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It 
establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. 
 
The standard income tax rate in Lithuania was 15 % in 2014. Starting from 2010, tax losses can be transferred at no consideration 
or in exchange for certain consideration between the group companies if certain conditions are met. 
 
Deferred income tax is recognised on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial 
recognition of goodwill; deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a 
transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. 
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet 
date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled. 
 
Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against 
which the temporary differences can be utilised. 
 
Following the provisions of Law on Corporate Income Tax the sale of shares of an entity, registered or otherwise organised in a 
state of the European Economic Area or in a state with which a treaty for the avoidance of double taxation has been concluded and 
brought into effect and which is a payer of corporate income tax or an equivalent tax, to another entity or a natural person shall not 
be taxed where the entity transferring the shares held more than 25% of voting shares in that entity for an uninterrupted period of at 
least two years. If mentioned condition is met or is expected to be met by the management of the Company, no deferred tax 
liabilities or assets are recognised in respect of temporary differences associated with carrying amounts of these investments. 
 
Tax losses can be carried forward for indefinite period, except for the losses incurred as a result of disposal of securities and/or 
derivative financial instruments. Such carrying forward is disrupted if the Company changes its activities due to which these losses 
incurred except when the Company does not continue its activities due to reasons which do not depend on the Company itself. The 
losses from disposal of securities and/or derivative financial instruments can be carried forward for 5 consecutive years and only be 
used to reduce the taxable income earned from the transactions of the same nature. From 1 January 2014 current year taxable 
profit could be decreased by previous year tax losses only up to 70%.  
 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 
authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net 
basis. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
2.21. Employee benefits 
 

Social security contributions 
 
The Company and the Group pay social security contributions to the state Social Security Fund (the Fund) on behalf of its 
employees based on the defined contribution plan in accordance with the local legal requirements. A defined contribution plan is a 
plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into the Fund and will have no legal or constructive obligations to pay further 
contributions if the Fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees benefits relating to employee service in the current and 
prior period. Social security contributions are recognised as expenses on an accrual basis and included in payroll expenses. 
 
Bonus plans 
 
The Company and the Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses where contractually obliged or where there is a past 
practice that has created a constructive obligation.  
 
Pension obligations 
 
If there is an individual arrangement with an employee the Company and the Group may make payments into defined contribution 
pension plans. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. 
The group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all 
employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods. 
 
 
2.22. Contingencies 
 
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the financial statements. They are disclosed unless the possibility of an outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits is remote.  
 
A contingent asset is not recognised in the financial statements but disclosed when an inflow or economic benefits is probable. 
 
2.23. Events after the reporting period 
 
Events after the reporting period that provide additional information about the Group’s position as at the end of the reporting period 
(adjusting events) are reflected in the financial statements. Events after the reporting period that are not adjusting events are 
disclosed in the notes when material. 
 
2.24. Significant accounting judgements and estimates  
 
The preparation of financial statements requires management of the Group and the Company to make judgements and estimates 
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of 
reporting period. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a 
material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in the future periods.  
 
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
2.24 Significant accounting judgements and estimates (cont’d) 
 
Judgements 
 
In the process of applying the Group accounting policies, management has made the following judgement, which has most 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in these financial statements: 
 
Initial accounting of the assets received and liabilities assumed during split-off 
 
AB Invalda LT management has made a judgement that the split-off completed in 2014 as a result of which the Company was 
established was not in scope of IFRIC 17 „Distribution of Non-cash Assets to Owners“. IFRIC 17 includes an exemption that the 
Interpretation does not apply to a distribution of a non-cash asset that is ultimately controlled by the same party or parties before and 
after the distribution. During the split-off shares were allocated proportionally to all shareholders of AB Invalda LT and in the newly 
established entities, AB Invalda LT was controlled according to the agreement by the same shareholders’ group before and after the 
Split-off, therefore this exemption could be applied. As a result the Company and the Group elected to apply predecessor values 
method for transactions under common control. The Group incorporated the acquired entities results and balance sheets 
prospectively from the date on which the business combination between entities under common control occurred. More details are 
described in Note 2.5 
 
 
Estimates and assumptions 
 
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are 
described below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the consolidated financial 
statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments however, may change due to 
market changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when 
they occur. 
 
The significant areas of estimation used in the preparation of these financial statements are discussed below. 
 
Fair value of investment properties in consolidated financial statements 
 
Fair value of investment properties was based on the market approach by reference to sales in the market of comparable properties. 
Market approach refers to the prices of the analogues transactions in the market. These values are adjusted for differences in key 
attributes such as land size and productivity.  
 
The fair value of the investment properties as at 31 December 2014 was LTL 36,456 thousand (described in more details in Note 
10). 
 
Fair value of investments in subsidiaries in stand-alone financial statements 
 
The fair values of investments in subsidiaries are determined by using valuation techniques, primarily discounted cash flows and 
recent comparable transactions. The fair value of these investments was measured at the fair value of their net assets. The main 
assets of subsidiaries are agricultural land plots, which are measured at fair value using the market approach. The main liabilities of 
subsidiaries are loans granted by the Company, which are measured using an income approach, such as a present value technique. 
The models used to determine fair values are periodically reviewed and compared against historical results to ensure their reliability.  
 
The fair value of the investments in subsidiaries as at 31 December 2014 was LTL 16,800 thousand (described in more details in 
Note 5).  
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3 Financial risk management 

 
3.1. Financial risk factors 
 
The risk management function within the Group is carried out in respect of financial risks, operational risks and legal risks. The 
primary objectives of the financial risk management function are to establish risk limits, and then ensure that exposure to risks stays 
within these limits. The operational and legal risk management functions are intended to ensure proper functioning of internal 
policies and procedures to minimise operational and legal risks. To limit operational risk, annual documentation reviews are held. 
This helps to limit legal risks as well in case a dispute arises and all the documentation is in place and of appropriate quality and can 
be used to prove the rights. Legal risk is limited as well by the fact that counterparties do not grant guarantees on each other. 
 
The Group’s and the Company’s principal financial liabilities comprise trade and other payables. The main purpose of these financial 
liabilities is to raise finance for the Group’s and the Company’s operations. The Group and the Company have various financial 
assets such as trade and other receivables, loans granted and cash which arise directly from its operations. The Company and the 
Group have not used any derivative instruments and borrowings so far, as management considered that there is no necessity for 
them. 
 
The main risks arising from the financial instruments are market risk (including currency risk, cash flow and fair value interest rate 
risk and price risk), liquidity risk and credit risk. The risks are identified and disclosed below. 
 
 
Credit risk  
 
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, credit exposures to outstanding trade receivables and loans granted. The Group 
has no significant concentrations of credit risk. The Group seeks to ensure that rental contracts are entered into only with lessees 
with an appropriate credit history, from some of lessees advance lease payments are required.  
 
At the date of financial statements there are no indications of worsening credit quality of trade and other receivables, which are 
neither due, nor impaired, due to constant control by the Group of receivable balances. The maximum exposure to credit risk is 
disclosed in Notes 12 and 13. There are no transactions of the Group or the Company that occur outside Lithuania.  
 
With respect to credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents the Group’s and the Company’s exposure to credit risk arises from 
default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments. 
 
For banks and financial institutions, only independently rated parties with high credit ratings are accepted. 
 
The credit quality of cash and cash equivalents can be assessed by reference to external credit ratings of the banks: 
 

 2014 

 Group  Company 

Moody’s ratings    

Prime-1 724  586 

Prime-2  1  - 

Not Prime 1  1 

 726  587 
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3 Financial risk management (cont’d) 

 
3.1 Financial risk factors (cont’d) 
 
Market risk 
 
Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk  
 
The Group has no borrowings and loans granted. The Company has loans granted to its subsidiaries with fixed interest rates for one 
year. Therefore, the Group and the Company are not exposed to cash flow interest rate risk. 
 
Loans granted at fixed rates expose the Company to fair value interest rate risk. The loans granted are denominated in the Euro. 
The fixed interest rates are reviewed each year to conform to the market interest rates. The Company is not using any financial 
instruments to hedge this risk. 
 
Foreign exchange risk  
 
The Group and the Company holds assets and liabilities denominated only in the Litas and the Euro. In Lithuania the Euro was 
pegged to the Litas, therefore, there are no fluctuations between these currencies. Therefore, the Group and the Company are not 
exposed to foreign exchange risk. From 1 January 2015 the Euro became local currency of the Republic of Lithuania. 
 
Price risk 
 
The Group has no significant exposure to price risk as it does not hold any equity securities or commodities. The Group is exposed 
to price risk other than in respect of financial instruments, such as land price risk including land rentals risk. 
 
The Company’s investments are exposed to price risk arising from uncertainties about future equity values of the subsidiaries. The 
fair value of subsidiaries depends on lands price risk, interest rate risk and other factors. Refer to sensitivity analysis disclosed in 
Note 5. 
 
 
Liquidity risk  
 
The Group’s and the Company’s policy is to maintain sufficient cash and cash equivalents or have available funding through an 
adequate amount of committed credit facilities to meet their commitments at a given date in accordance with strategic plans. The 
liquidity risk of the Group and the Company is controlled on an overall Group level. The Group and the Company have not been 
facing any liquidity issues so far. The proceeds from rent and cash balances are sufficient to settle all liabilities. 
 
The Group’s liquidity ratio ((total current assets / total current liabilities) as at 31 December 2014 was approximately 7.09. The 
Company’s liquidity ratio as at 31 December 2014 was approximately 10.67.  
 
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities as at 31 December 2014 
based on contractual undiscounted payments.  
 

 
On demand 

Less than 
3 months 

4 to 12 
months 

2 to 5 
years 

More than 
5 years Total 

The Group       
Trade and other payables - 12 - - - 12 
Other liabilities - 21 - - - 21 
Balance as at 31 December 2014 - 33 - - - 33 
       The Company       
Trade and other payables - 10 - - - 10 
Other liabilities - 22 - - - 22 
Balance as at 31 December 2014 - 32 - - - 32 
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3 Financial risk management (cont’d) 

 
3.2. Capital management 
 
The primary objective of the capital management is to ensure that the Group and the Company maintain a strong credit health and 
healthy capital ratios in order to support their business and maximise shareholder value. The Company‘s management supervises 
the investments so that they are in compliance with requirements applied to the capital, specified in the appropriate legal acts, as 
well as provide the Group’s management with necessary information.  
 
The Group‘s and the Company‘s capital comprises share capital, share premium, reserves and retained earnings. 
 
The Group and the Company manage their capital structure and make adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions 
and specific risks of their activity. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the dividend payment to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes 
during the year 2014. 
 
The Company is obliged to keep its equity ratio at not less than 50 % of its share capital, as imposed by the Law on Companies of 
Republic of Lithuania. The Company and the subsidiaries complied with this requirement as at 31 December 2014, except one 
subsidiary. The appropriate measures will be taken by the Company in order to increase share capital of the subsidiary capitalising 
the loans granted by the Company to the equity of subsidiary. 
 
 

4 Fair value estimation 
 
Assets carried at fair value 
 
The fair value hierarchy has the following levels: 
Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as 
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices); 
Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs). 
 
The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s and the Company’s assets measured at fair value 
in the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2014. 
 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total balance 

Assets of the Group     
Investment properties (Note 10) - 36,456 - 36,456 
Assets of the Company     
Subsidiaries (Note 5) - - 16,800 16,800 
 
There were no transfers of assets between the levels of the fair value hierarchy during 2014.  
 
There were no liabilities measured at fair value in the Group’s and the Company’s statements of financial position. 
 
 
Financial instruments that are not carried at fair value  
 
The Group’s and the Company’s principal financial instruments that are not carried at fair value in the statement of financial 
position are cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, loans granted, trade and other payables. 
 
The carrying amount of the cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables of the Group and the 
Company as at 31 December 2014 approximated their fair value because they are short-term and the impact of discounting is 
immaterial.  
 
The carrying amount of loans granted by the Company approximates their fair value because the interest rates are reviewed and 
adjusted when market rates change. Their fair value is based on cash flows discounted using 4.5 % interest rate as at 31 December 
2014. It is Level 3 fair value measurement.   
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5 Subsidiaries 
 
The Group had the following directly held by the Company subsidiaries: 
 

Name  
Country of incorporation 

and place of business 

Proportion of shares 
(voting rights) directly held 

by the Company (%) Nature of business 
    

UAB Avižėlė Lithuania 100.00 Agricultural land owner and lessor 
UAB Beržytė Lithuania 100.00 Agricultural land owner and lessor 
UAB Dirvolika Lithuania 100.00 Agricultural land owner and lessor 
UAB Duonis Lithuania 100.00 Agricultural land owner and lessor 
UAB Ekotra Lithuania 100.00 Agricultural land owner and lessor 
UAB Kvietukas Lithuania 100.00 Agricultural land owner and lessor 
UAB Laukaitis Lithuania 100.00 Agricultural land owner and lessor 
UAB Lauknešys Lithuania 100.00 Agricultural land owner and lessor 
UAB Linažiedė Lithuania 100.00 Agricultural land owner and lessor 
UAB Pušaitis Lithuania 100.00 Agricultural land owner and lessor 
UAB Puškaitis Lithuania 100.00 Agricultural land owner and lessor 
UAB Sėja Lithuania 100.00 Agricultural land owner and lessor 
UAB Vasarojus Lithuania 100.00 Agricultural land owner and lessor 
UAB Žalvė Lithuania 100.00 Agricultural land owner and lessor 
UAB Žemgalė Lithuania 100.00 Agricultural land owner and lessor 
UAB Žemynėlė Lithuania 100.00 Agricultural land owner and lessor 
UAB Žiemkentys Lithuania 100.00 Agricultural land owner and lessor 
UAB Cooperor Lithuania 100.00 Dormant 

 
All subsidiary undertakings are included in the consolidation.  
 
Subsidiaries are measured at fair value through profit or loss in the Company’s stand-alone financial statements. It is Level 3 fair 
value measurement. The fair value of investments is measured at the fair value of their net assets. The main assets of subsidiaries 
are agricultural land plots, which are measured at fair value using the market approach (level 2 measurement, more details provided 
in Note 10). The main liabilities of subsidiaries are loans granted by the Company, which are measured using an income approach, 
such as a present value technique. The Company used the following inputs to estimate fair value of loans granted as at 31 
December 2014:  

• interest of 4.5% paid on annual basis; 
• term of ten years 
• principal amount is repaid on end of terms; 
• the discount rate of 4.5%. 

If the discount rate would be by 50 basis points lower with all other variables remaining constant, the negative change in the fair 
value of subsidiaries would amount approximately LTL 687 thousand. If the discount rate would be by 50 basis points higher with all 
other variables remaining constant, the positive change in the fair value of subsidiaries would amount approximately LTL 654 
thousand.  
 
The following table presents the changes in Level 3 instruments for the year ended 31 December 2014. 
 

Split-off 16,920 
Gains and losses recognised in profit or loss (within ‘Net changes in fair value of subsidiaries at fair value 
through profit or loss’) (120)

Fair value as at 31 December 2014 16,800 
Change in unrealised gains or losses for the period included in profit or loss for assets held at the end of the 
reporting period (120)
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6 Split-off 

 
 
On 21 March 2014 the split-off terms of AB Invalda LT (code 121304349) were announced. The Extraordinary General Shareholders 
Meeting approved the terms of the Company’s split-off on 28 April 2014. The Split-off was completed on 29 April 2014. According to 
the terms, three new entities AB INVL Baltic Farmland, AB INVL Baltic Real Estate and AB INVL Technology, comprising 47.95% of  
AB Invalda LT total assets measured at carrying amounts, were split-off from AB Invalda LT. Following the split-off, 14.45%  of the 
assets, equity and liabilities were transferred to the Company.  
 
The Company 
 
The Company’s share capital and equity was formed in accordance with the procedure set forth in the terms of split-off on 29 April 
2014, whereas assets received and liabilities assumed were estimated at predecessor carrying values at the date of split-off, except 
for investments in subsidiaries for which accounting policy was changed and they were revalued at fair value at the date of split-off 
(Note 2.9). The difference between fair value and the carrying value of investments in subsidiaries is included in retained earnings. 
 
On the split-off the fair value of investments to subsidiaries was determined under the same principles and methods as those 
applied as at 31 December 2014. More details are disclosed in Note 5.  
 
Transferred net assets to the Company were as follows: 
 

Investments into subsidiaries* (Note 2.9) 6,112 

Deferred income tax asset 68 

Loans granted to subsidiaries 17,287 

Other loans granted 1,657 

Cash and cash equivalents 338 

Total assets 25,462 

  
Borrowings (2,268)

Total liabilities (2,268)

  
Total net assets 23,194 

  

Share capital 3,294 

Share premium 4,789 

Reserves 11,113 

Retained earnings 3,998 

Total equity 23,194 

 
* Investments in subsidiaries in stand-alone financial statements of AB Invalda LT, from which the Company was split-off, were 
carried at cost, less impairment. Although the Company has elected to apply the predecessor values method for business 
combinations under common control, it has changed its accounting policy for investments in subsidiaries from cost method to fair 
value method and measured these subsidiaries at fair value of LTL 16,920 thousand recording the impact of the change of LTL 
10,808 thousand directly within retained earnings (Note 2.9). The amount in the table above represents the carrying value of 
investments in Invalda LT financial statements as of the date of split-off. 
 
During the split-off part of liability rising from credit agreement with Šiaulių bankas was transferred to the Company. The credit was 
fully repaid in the beginning of May 2014. 
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6 Split-off (cont’d) 
 
The Group  
 
The Group elected to apply predecessor values method for transactions under common control (Note 2.5). No assets or liabilities 
were restated to their fair values. Instead, the Group incorporated predecessor carrying values. 
 
Transferred net assets to the Group were as follows: 
 

Intangible assets 17 
Property, plant and equipment 3 
Investment properties 36,456 
Deferred income tax asset 68 
Other loans granted 1,657 
Prepayments and deferred charges 8 
Trade and other receivables 776 
Cash and cash equivalents 979 
Total assets 39,964 
  
Share capital 3,294 
Share premium 4,789 
Reserves 11,113 
Retained earnings 14,806 
Total equity (net assets) 34,002 

  
Deferred income tax liability 2,901 
Borrowings 2,268 
Trade payables 31 
Income tax payable 6 
Advances received 746 
Other current liabilities 10 
Total liabilities 5,962 

Total equity and liabilities 39,964 
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7 Segment information and operating lease commitments 
 
Management of the Company has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the Board of Directors that 
are used to make strategic decisions. All financial information, including the measure of profit, total assets and total liabilities, is 
analysed as a single reporting segment -  agricultural land segment, therefore is not further disclosed in these financial statements. 
The Company and its subsidiaries are domiciled in Lithuania. There are no transactions of the Group or the Company that occur 
outside Lithuania. Therefore, the management has neither analysed revenue, nor other financial indicators by geographical areas. 
All revenue of the Group is received from one type of service – rent of land. Therefore, the Group has not disclosed any breakdown 
of revenue by product and services type and by geographical areas.  
 
There is no single customer, from which the Group has received more than 10% of its revenue.  
 
Operating lease commitments – Group as a lessor 
 
The Group has entered into leases of the Group’s investment properties under operating lease agreements. The majority of the 
agreements have remaining terms of between 1 and 6 years.  
 
Future rentals receivable under operating leases as at 31 December are as follows: 
 

 2014  

Within one year 1,519  

From one to five years 3,891  

After five years 224  

 5,634  
 
 
The amounts above are calculated in accordance with contractual maturity of lease agreements, disregarding termination or renew 
options.  
 
All lease agreements can be cancelled under the following terms:  

• Tenants must notify the lessor 12 months in advance if they wish to cancel the rent agreement without any reason and 
have to pay annual rent for these 12 months.  

• The lessor has the right to change the rent price for the coming year and must notify the tenant about the change till 1 
May of the current year. If tenants do not agree with the new rent price, they can terminate the agreement with notification 
of 3 months in advance.  

 
If all tenants utilised free cancelation option with 12 months notification on 31 December 2014, future rentals receivable would be 
limited to LTL 1,519 thousand. 
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8 Income tax  

 
 2014 
 Group  Company 
Components of the income tax expenses    
Current year income tax (30)  (23) 
Deferred income tax expenses (41)  (53) 
Income tax expenses charged to profit or loss – total (71)  (76) 
 
There is no income tax expense (credit) recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. 

 
Deferred income tax asset and liability were estimated at 15% rates as at 31 December 2014. 
 
The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities of the Group during 2014 is as follows: 
 
 Assets 

(liabilities) 
recognised on 

Split-off (Note 6) 
Recognised in profit or 

loss during the year 
Balance as at 31 
December 2014 

Deferred tax asset    

Tax loss carry forward for indefinite period of time 240 (41) 199 
Recognised deferred income tax asset 240 (41) 199 

    
Asset netted with liability of the same legal entities (172) (12) (184) 
Deferred income tax asset, net 68 53 15 
    
Deferred tax liability    
Investment properties (3,073) - (3,073) 
Deferred income tax liability  (3,073) - (3,073) 
    
Liability netted with asset of the same legal entities 172 12 184 
Deferred income tax liability, net (2,901) 12 (2,889) 
    
Deferred income tax, net (2,833) (41) (2,874) 
 
The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities of the Company during 2014 is as follows: 
 
 Assets 

recognised on 
Split-off (Note 6) 

Recognised in profit or 
loss during the year 

Balance as at 31 
December 2014 

Deferred tax asset    

Tax loss carry forward for indefinite period of time 68 (53) 15 
Deferred income tax asset, net 68 (53) 15 
    
Deferred tax liability    
    
Deferred income tax liability, net - - - 
    
Deferred income tax, net 68 (53) 15 
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8 Income tax (cont’d) 
 
The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as follows: 
 
 2014 
 Group  Company 
Deferred tax assets    
Deferred tax assets to be recovered after more than 12 months -  - 
Deferred tax assets to be recovered within 12 months 15  15 
 15  15 
Deferred tax liabilities    
Deferred tax liability to be recovered after more than 12 months -  - 
Deferred tax liability to be recovered within 12 months 2,889  - 
 2,889  - 
 
The reconciliation of the total income tax to the theoretical amount that would arise using the tax rate of the Group and the Company 
is as follows: 

 2014 

 Group  Company 
  
Profit before income tax 380  385 
    

Tax calculated at the tax rate of 15 %  (57)  (58)

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses and non-taxable income (14)  (18)

Income tax expenses recorded in the  statement of comprehensive income (71)  (76)
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9 Earnings per share 
 
Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing net profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the 
parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. 
 
The weighted average number of shares for 2014 was as follows: 
 
Calculation of weighted average for the year 
2014  

Number of shares 
(thousand) 

Par value 
(LTL) 

Issued/246 
(days) 

Weighted average 
(thousand) 

      
Shares issued as at 29 April 2014  3,294 1 246/246 3,294 

Acquired own shares as at 3 October 2014  (2) 1 89/246 (1)

Shares issued as at 31 December 2014  3,292 1  3,293 
 
 
 
The following table reflects the income and share data used in the basic earnings per share computations: 
 
 2014 
 Group  Company 
 

Net profit (loss), attributable to the equity holders of the parent 309  309 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (thousand)  3,293  3,293 

Basic earnings (deficit) per share (LTL)  0.09  0.09 

 
For 2014 diluted earnings per share of the Group and the Company are the same as basic earnings per share. 

 
 

10 Investment properties 
 

 
 

Fair value hierarchy Level 2 

Received during split-off on 29 April 2014 36,456 
  
Additions - 
Subsequent expenditure - 
Disposals - 
Gain from fair value adjustment - 
Loss from fair value adjustment - 
Balance as at 31 December 2014 36,456 
  Unrealised gains and losses for the period included within ‘Net gains (losses) from fair value 
adjustments on investment property’ in the statement of comprehensive income - 
 
Investment properties are stated at fair value and are valued by accredited valuer UAB korporacija Matininkai using sales 
comparison method. The valuation was performed in July 2014. Most of analogues transactions, on which property’s fair value was 
based, took part during the period from January till April of 2014. Therefore, the investment properties are recognised at newly 
established fair value at the starting date of the Group activities on 29 April 2014. There were no significant changes in the market 
from August until December 2014 that could have an effect on the value of those investment properties, therefore the updated 
valuation was not performed as at 31 December 2014. 
  



 

AB INVL BALTIC FARMLAND, company code 303299781, Šeimyniškių Str. 1A, Vilnius, Lithuania 
CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY’S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 
(all amounts are in LTL thousand unless otherwise stated) 
 

 

 

31 
 

 
10 Investment properties (cont’d) 

 
The fair value represents the price that would be received selling an asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at 
the measurement date. An investment property’s fair value was based on the market approach by reference to sales in the market of 
comparable properties. Market approach refers to the prices of the analogues transactions in the market. These values are adjusted 
for differences in key attributes such as land plot size and productivity. The most significant input into this valuation approach is price 
per hectare. 
 
There were no changes to the valuation techniques during the period. 
 
On 1 May 2014 changes to the Agricultural Land Acquisition temporary law entered into force, providing restrictions of the purchase 
of agricultural land (including restriction of purchase of shares in the legal entity owning agricultural land). These restrictions mean 
that the Group cannot purchase additional agricultural land and/or acquire shares in entities owning agricultural land. As a result of 
restrictions the land sale market in Lithuania became less liquid. There were no other restrictions on the realisation of investment 
properties or the remittance of income and proceeds of disposals during 2014.  No contractual obligations to purchase investment 
properties existed at the end of the period. 
 
 

11 Financial instruments by category 
 
 

Group Loans and 
receivables 

Assets at fair 
value through 
the profit and 

loss 

Total 

31 December 2014    
Assets as per statement of financial position    
Trade and other receivables excluding tax 
prepayments 64 - 64 
Cash and cash equivalents 726 - 726 
Total 790  790 

 
 

Company Loans and 
receivables 

Assets at fair 
value through 
the profit and 

loss 

Total 

31 December 2014    
Assets as per statement of financial position    
Investments into subsidiaries at fair value through 
profit or loss 

 
16,800 16,800 

Loans granted to subsidiaries 16,943 - 16,943 
Cash and cash equivalents 587 - 587 
Total 17,530 16,800 34,330 

 
 Financial liabilities at amortised cost 
 Group Company 
31 December 2014   
Liabilities as per statement of financial position   
Trade payables 12 10 
Other current liabilities excluding taxes and employee 
benefits 21 22 
Total 33 32 
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12 Loans granted to subsidiaries 
 
The Company’s loans granted are described below: 
 

 2014 

Long-term loans granted to subsidiaries 16,943 
 

Total loans granted 16,943 
 
The movements of loans granted to subsidiaries during the year were: 
 

 2014 

  
Loans received on split-off 17,287 

Loans granted during year - 

Loans repayment received (571)

Interest charged 616 

Interest received (389)

Balance At 31 December 2014 16,943 

 
The contractual maturity of loans granted to subsidiaries is 31 December 2015 according to the agreements, but the Company 
classifies them as long term, because intends to prolong them on maturity date. Effective interest rate of loans is 4.5 %. At each 
year end maturity of the loans granted is prolonged for one extra year and new market interest rate is determined. 
 
As at 31 December 2014, the Company loans granted were neither overdue, nor impaired and had no history of counterparty 
defaults. The Company’s policy is to grant loans only to the subsidiaries controlled by it. The maximum credit risk as at the 
financial reporting date is the carrying amount of each category of amounts receivable as indicated above. The Company does not 
hold any collateral. 
 
The carrying amount of loans granted by the Company approximates their fair value because the interest rates are reviewed and 
adjusted when market rates change. Their value is based on cash flows discounted using 4.5 % and interest rate as at 31 
December 2014. It is Level 3 fair value measurement.  
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13 Trade and other receivables  
 

 2014 

 Group 

  

Trade and other receivables, gross 366 

Taxes receivable, gross 14 

Less: allowance for doubtful trade and other receivables (302)

 78 

 
The Company had no trade and other receivables as at 31 December 2014.  
 
Changes in allowance for doubtful trade and other receivables for the year 2014 have been included within ‘Allowance for (reversal 
of) impairment of trade receivables’ in the statement of comprehensive income.  
 
Trade and other receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally with a credit term of 30 days.  
 
As at 31 December 2014 the Group’s trade and other receivables with nominal value of LTL 324 thousand were impaired. The net 
amount of LTL 22 thousand is presented in the statement of financial position of the Group.  
 
 
Movements in the allowance for accounts receivable of the Group (assessed individually) were as follows: 
 

 Individually impaired 
 Group 
  
Allowances recorded under predecessor method during split-off 205 
Charge for the year 111 
Write-offs charged against the allowance (1)
Recoveries of amounts previously written-off  (13)

Balance as at 31 December 2014 302 
 
 
The ageing analysis of trade and other receivables of the Group as at 31 December 2014 is as follows: 
 
  Trade receivables past due but not impaired  

 Trade receivables neither past due 
nor impaired 

Less than 
30 days 

30–90 
days 

90–180 
days 

More than 
180 days Total 

       

Group - - 8 - 34 42 
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14 Share capital, acquisition of own shares and reserves 

 
The Company’s share capital is divided into 3,294,209 ordinary registered shares with the nominal value of LTL 1 each. All the 
shares of the Company were fully paid. The Company’s share capital and equity was formed in accordance with the procedure set 
forth in the terms of split-off on 29 April 2014 (Note 6). 
 
From 14 August 2014 until 30 September 2014 the share buy-back was implemented through the tender offer market. Maximum 
number of shares to be acquired was 16,471. Share acquisition price established at EUR 2.86 (LTL 9.88) per share. During buy-
back 1,950 shares (0.06% of share capital) were acquired for LTL 21 thousand, including brokerage fees. The acquired shares 
were settled on 3 October 2014. Acquired own shares do not have voting rights. There was no decision of shareholders of the 
Company taken to reduce the share capital by cancelling own shares, therefore own shares with a nominal value of LTL 2 
thousand and acquisition value of LTL 21 thousand are presented on the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2014. 
 
Legal reserve 
 
Legal reserve is a compulsory reserve under Lithuanian legislation. Annual transfers of not less than 5 % of net profit, calculated in 
accordance with the statutory financial statements, are compulsory until the reserve reaches 10 % of the share capital. The reserve 
can be used only to cover the accumulated losses.  
 
Reserve for the acquisition of own shares  
 
Own shares reserve is formed for the purpose of buying own shares in order to keep their liquidity and manage price fluctuations.  
 

15 Related party transactions  
 
The related parties of the Group were the shareholders of the Company (note 1), key management personnel, including companies 
under control or joint control of key management and shareholders having significant influence, the entities of the group of AB 
Invalda LT and entities of other groups, which were split-off from AB Invalda LT. The Group was established after the split-off from 
Invalda LT.  
 
Interest income and expenses are presented in the ‘revenue’ and ‘purchases’ columns, respectively.  
 
The Group’s transactions with related parties during 2014 and related balances as at 31 December 2014 were as follows: 
 
 
2014  
Group 

Sales to related 
parties 

Purchases from 
related parties 

Receivables from 
related parties 

Payables to related 
parties 

     
AB Invalda LT (accounting services) - 34 - 1 
UAB BAIP (Information technology 
maintenance services) - 1 - - 
UAB Cedus Invest (loan) 1 - - - 
AB FMĮ Finasta - 1 - 2 
 1 36 - 3 
     
Liabilities to shareholders and management - - - - 
 
The Company’s related parties are the subsidiaries, shareholders (Note 1), key management personnel and companies under 
control or joint control of key management and shareholders with significant influence, the entities of the group of AB Invalda LT and 
entities of other groups, which were split-off from AB Invalda LT.  
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15 Related party transactions (cont’d) 
 
Transactions of the Company with subsidiaries in 2014 and balances as at 31 December 2014 were as follows: 
 
2014 
Company 

Revenue and 
other income from 

related 
parties 

Purchases from 
related parties 

Receivables from 
related parties 

Payables to 
related parties 

     
Loans and borrowings 616 - 16,943 - 
 616 - 16,943 - 
 
The maturity of loans granted is till 2015, effective interest rate 4.5% (Note 12).  
 
The Company’s transactions with other related parties during 2014 and related balances as at 31 December 2014 were as follows: 
 
 
2014  
Company 

Sales to related 
parties 

Purchases from 
related parties 

Receivables from 
related parties 

Payables to related 
parties 

     
AB Invalda LT (accounting services) - 6 - - 
UAB Cedus Invest (loan) 1 - - - 
AB FMĮ Finasta - 1 - 2 
 1 7 - 2 
     
Liabilities to shareholders and management - - - - 
 
 
The management remuneration contains short-term employees’ benefits. Key management of the Company and the Group includes 
Board members, the Director of the Company and Directors of the subsidiaries, respectively.   
 

 2014 

 Group  Company 

    

Wages, salaries and bonuses 42  8 

Social security contributions 13  2 

Payments to pensions funds  7  - 

Total key management compensation 62  10 

 
There were no loans granted during the reporting period or outstanding at the end of the reporting period. In 2014 dividends were 
not paid.  
 

16 Events after the reporting period  
 
Acquisition of own shares and dividends 
 
From 29 January 2015 until 26 February 2015 the Company implemented share buy-back through the tender offer market. 
Maximum number of shares to be acquired was 16,471. Share acquisition price established at EUR 2.86 (LTL 9.88) per share. 
During buy-back 710 shares (0.02% of share capital) were acquired for LTL 8 thousand, including brokerage fees. Acquired own 
shares do not have voting rights. 
 
A dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2014 of EUR 0.06 (LTL 0.21) per share, amounting to a total dividend of  
EUR 197 thousand (LTL 682 thousand), is to be proposed at the annual general meeting on 24 March 2015. These financial 
statements do not reflect this dividend payable. 
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Translation note:  
This version of the Consolidated Annual Report of 2014 is a translation from the original, which was 

prepared in Lithuanian language. All possible care has been taken to ensure that the translation is an 
accurate representation of the original. However, in all matters of interpretation of information, views or 

opinions, the original language version takes precedence over this translation.  
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 I. GENERAL INFORMATION 

 

1. Reporting period for which the report is prepared 

The report covers the financial period of INVL Baltic Farmland, starting from the Company’s establishment date on 29 
April 2014 and ending on 31 December 2014. The report was audited. 

 

2. General information about the Issuer and other companies comprising the Issuer‘s group 

2.1. Information about the Issuer 

Name of the Issuer The public joint-stock INVL Baltic Farmland, hereinafter INVL Baltic 
Farmland, AB 

Code 303299781 

Registered address  Seimyniskiu str. 1A, LT-09312, Vilnius, Lithuania 

Telephone +370 5 279 0601 

Fax +370 5 279 0530 

E-mail farmland@invaldalt.com 

Website www.invlbalticfarmland.lt 

Legal form public joint-stock company 

Date and place of registration 29 April 2014. Register of Legal Entities 

Register in which data about the Company are 
accumulated and stored 

Register of Legal Entities 

 

2.2. Information on company’s goals, philosophy and strategy 

The public joint-stock company INVL Baltic Farmland was established on 29th of April 2014 on the basis of a part of 
asset split-off from Invalda LT, AB (code 121304349). The split-off terms are published on website 
http://www.invaldalt.com/en/main/news/Material_events?ID=929. Following the split-off, 14.45% of assets, equity and 
liabilities of Invalda LT, AB were transferred to INVL Baltic Farmland, AB. 

INVL Baltic Farmland manages shares of companies investing into agricultural land. Invalda LT started investing into 
agricultural land in 2004 through a subsidiary company Ekotra. INVL Baltic Farmland has 100% in 18 companies owning 
more than 3 thousand hectares of agricultural land in Lithuania. Almost all the land is rented to farmers and agricultural 
companies.  

INVL Baltic Farmland focuses on enhancing the quality of owned land and environmental sustainability. 

Investments into agricultural land are classified as long term and are recommended for investors who are satisfied with 
the return on rent and possible income from increase of agricultural land prices. Since prices of agricultural products are 
determined in the world markets, this investment allow to participate in the world’s food supply chain. 

Shares of INVL Baltic Farmland are listed on NASDAQ Vilnius stock exchange since 4 June 2014. 
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2.3. Information about the Issuer‘s group of companies 

INVL Baltic Farmland has 100% stakes in 18 companies owning more than 3 thousand hectares of agricultural land in 
the most fertile regions of Lithuania.  
 

 

 
 

Fig. 2.3.1. Group structure and agricultural land portfolio of INVL Baltic Farmland, AB as of 31 December 2014. 

Contact information of the group companies is presented in Annex 1.  

Plots belonging to the company are in the most fertile areas of Lithuania. They are highlighted in blue. 

 

Table 2.3.2.. Information about companies of INVL Baltic Farmland group. 

Company name District of company‘s activities Owned land 
plot, hectares 

Cultivated 
cropland area, 

hectares 

Avizele, UAB Rokiskis dist., Anyksciai dist. 113.82 107.51 

Berzyte, UAB Birzai dist. 149.91 145.71 

Dirvolika, UAB Akmene dist., Joniskis dist., Siauliai dist. 199.44 191.97 

Duonis, UAB Jonava dist., Kedainiai dist., Ukmerge dist. 183.56 175.79 

Ekotra, UAB Vilkaviskis dist. 238.76 228.70 

Kvietukas, UAB Pakruojis dist., Pasvalys dist. 124.61 118.62 

Laukaitis, UAB Pakruojis dist., Pasvalys dist., Siauliai dist. 204.10 193.44 

Lauknesys, UAB Birzai dist., Pasvalys dist. 109.69 107.66 

Linaziede, UAB Alytus dist., Jonava dist., Kaisiadorys dist., Prienai dist. 85.13 80.75 

Pusaitis, UAB Radviliskis dist. 82.44 81.10 

Puskaitis, UAB Marijampole dist., Prienai dist., Vilkaviskis dist. 210.74 204.20 

Seja, UAB Kedainiai dist. 91.40 88.67 

Vasarojus, UAB Anyksciai dist., Panevezys dist., Ukmerge dist. 391.25 383.72 

Zalve, UAB Kupiskis dist. 216.88 201.73 

Zemgale, UAB Birzai dist., Kupiskis dist., Panevezys dist. 226.07 216.49 

Zemynele, UAB Sakiai dist., Vilkaviskis dist. 72.23 70.47 

Ziemkentys, UAB Panevezys dist., Pasvalys dist. 414.32 405.71 

Total 3114.34 3002.22 
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3. Agreements with intermediaries on public trading in securities 

INVL Baltic Farmland has signed the agreements with these intermediaries: 

• Finasta, AB FMI (Maironio str. 11, Vilnius, Lithuania. tel. +370 5 203 2233) – the agreement on management of 
securities accounting.  

• Šiaulių bank, AB (Tilžės str. 149, Šiauliai, Lithuania, tel. +370 41 595 607) – the agreement on investment 
services. 

• Finasta bank, AB (Maironio str. 11, Vilnius, Lithuania, tel. +370 203 2233) – the agreement on investment 
services. 

4. Information on Issuer’s branches and representative offices 

INVL Baltic Farmland, AB has no branches or representative offices. 
 

II. INFORMATION ABOUT SECURITIES 

5. The order of amendment of Issuer’s Articles of Association 
The Articles of Association of INVL Baltic Farmland, AB may be amended by resolution of the General Shareholders’ 
Meeting, passed by more than 2/3 of votes (except in cases provided for by the Law on Companies of the Republic of 
Lithuania). 
Actual wording of the Articles of Association is dated as of 29 April 2014.  
 

6. Structure of the authorized capital 

Table 6.1. Structure of INVL Baltic Farmland, AB authorised capital as of 31 December 2014.  

Type of shares 
Number of 

shares, units 
Total voting rights granted by 

the issued shares, units 
Nominal 

value, LTL 

Total 
nominal 

value, LTL 

Portion of the 
authorised capital, % 

Ordinary 
registered shares 3,294,209 3,292,259 1 3,294,209 100 

All shares are fully paid-up and no restrictions apply on their transfer. In 1 May 2014 changes to the Agricultural Land 
Acquisition temporary law entered into force. Under these changes, the persons or related persons cannot acquire more 
than 500 hectares of agricultural land in the territory of Lithuania from the state or from related persons. Acquisition of 
shares in legal entities, as well as INVL Baltic Farmland, are also under restrictions according to the Agricultural Land 
Acquisition temporary law. 

6.1. Information about the Issuer’s treasury shares 

The General Shareholders Meeting of INVL Baltic Farmland, AB that was held on 25 June 2014 approved a resolution to 
purchase own shares. A reserve for purchase of own shares, which was equal to EUR 3,087,232.33 (LTL 10,659,595.78), 
was formed in INVL Baltic Farmland. Max number of shares to be acquired – the total nominal value of own shares 
acquired during the whole period may not exceed 1/10 of share capital. The period during which the company may 
acquire its own shares is 12 months from the day of this resolution. The maximum one share acquisition price is EUR 
4.00 (LTL 13.81), minimum one share acquisition price – EUR 2.86 (LTL 9.88). 

INVL Baltic Farmland, AB from the beginning of the reporting period until the preparation of this report has twice 
initiated the acquisition of its own shares. This was done in order to implement both the will of the shareholders which 
was expressed while voting for the allocation of reserve for own shares, and a right of the shareholders to decide 
whether to hold or to sell shares to the company.   

• INVL Baltic Farmland, AB acquired 0.06 % of own shares in the buy-back procedure. The total amount of EUR 
5,577 (LTL 19,256) (excluding brokerage fees) was paid on 3 October 2014. INVL Baltic Farmland, AB could 
purchase up to 16 471 units of shares. During the share buy-back procedure 1,950 units of shares were offered 
to sell. Share buy-back procedure started from 14 August 2014 and was implemented through the market of 
official tender offers of NASDAQ Vilnius stock exchange until 30 September 2014. The price paid for the 
investors was EUR 2.86 (LTL 9.88) per share.  

• On 27 January 2015 INVL Baltic Farmland announced the initiation of shares buy-back procedure starting from 
29 January 2015. The end of the shares buy-back is 26 February 2015. INVL Baltic Farmland, AB could 
purchase up to 16 471 units of shares. The price paid was EUR 2.86 (LTL 9.88) per share. On 26 February 2015 
the company announced about acquisition of 0.02 % of own shares. The settlement of 710 units of shares 
acquired will happen on 2 March 2015. 

Purchased own shares may be cancelled by the decision of the General Shareholders Meeting or sold by the decision of 
the Board upon the condition that minimum sale price for one share isn’t lower than value of consolidated equity per one 
share calculated according to the last financial statements of INVL Baltic Farmland, which was announced before the 
decision of the Board, and the sale procedure will ensure equal possibilities for all shareholders to purchase these 
shares. 



 

42 
 

 
7. Trading in Issuer’s securities as well as securities, which are deemed to be a significant 

financial investment to the Issuer on a regulated market 
 
Table 7.1. Main characteristics of INVL Baltic Farmland, AB shares admitted to trading 

(LTL, if not stated otherwise) 31 December 2014  

Shares issued, units 3,294,209 

Shares with voting rights, units 3,292,259 

Nominal value 1 

Total nominal value 3,294,209 

ISIN code LT0000128753 

Name INL1L 

Exchange NASDAQ Vilnius 

List Baltic Secondary List  

Listing date 4 June 2014 
 
Company uses no services of liquidity providers. 
 
Table 7.2. Trading in the company’s shares 2014* (quarterly) on NASDAQ Vilnius: 

Reporting period 
Price, EUR Turnover, EUR Last trading 

date 
Total turnover 

high low last high low last units EUR 
2014 2nd Q* 3.450 3.000 3.240 2,505 7 142 30.06.2014 2,436 7,983 

2014 3rd Q 3.450 2.630 2.750 1,402 3 131 30.09.2014 3,148 9,384 

2014 4nd Q 3.150 2.750 2.800 1,750 3 17 30.12.2014 2,292 6,625 

* The data is provided since 4 June 2014, from the begining of the listing of the company in the Stock Exchange. 

 

Table 7.3. Trading in INVL Baltic Farmland, AB shares 

 2014* 

Share price, EUR  

- open 3.000 

- high 3.450 

- low 2.620 

   - medium 2.969 

- last 2.800 

Turnover, units 7,876 

Turnover, EUR 23,992.4 

Traded volume, units 133 

* The data is provided since 4 June 2014, from the begining of the listing of the company in the Stock Exchange. 

 

Table 7.4. Capitalisation 

Last trading date Number of shares, units Last price, EUR  Capitalisation, EUR 

 30.06.2014 3,294,209   3.240   10,673,237 
30.09.2014 3,294,209 2.750 9,059,075 

30.12.2014 3,292,259 2.800 9,218,325 
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Fig. 7.5. Turnover of INVL Baltic Farmland, AB shares, change of share price and indexes 

 

 

8. Dividends 

The General Shareholders’ Meeting decides upon dividend payment and sets the amount of dividends. The company 
pays out the dividends within 1 month after the day of adoption of the resolution on profit distribution.  

Persons have the right to receive dividends if they were shareholders of the company at the end of the tenth working 
day after the day of the General Shareholders’ Meeting which issued the resolution to pay dividends.  

According to the Law on Personal Income Tax and the Law on Corporate Income Tax, 15 % tax is applied to the 
dividends since 2014. The company is responsible for calculation, withdrawn and transfer (to the benefit of the State) of 
applicable taxes1. 

The company did not allocate dividends during the reporting period.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                      
1This information should not be treated as tax consultation. 
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9. Shareholders 

Table 9.1. Shareholders who held title to more than 5% of INVL Baltic Farmland, AB authorised capital and/or votes as 
of 31 December 2014. 

The total number of shareholders in INVL Baltic Farmland increased 3700 on 31 December 2014. 

There are no shareholders entitled to special rights of control. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Fig. 9.2. Votes as of 31 December 2014 

 

 

                                                      
2 Lucrum Investicija, UAB has 2% of votes according to a repurchase agreement. 
3 According to Part 6 of Paragraph 1 of Article 24 and Paragraph 2 of Article 24 of the Law on Securities of the Republic of Lithuania, it 
is considered that Alvydas Banys has votes of LJB Investments, a company controlled by him, and also votes of Darius Sulnis and Indre 
Miseikyte, managers of INVL Baltic Farmland. 
4 According to Part 6 of Paragraph 1 of Article 24 and Paragraph 2 of Article 24 of the Law on Securities of the Republic of Lithuania, it 
is considered that Darius Sulnis has votes of Lucrum Investicija, a company controlled by him, and also votes of Alvydas Banys and 
Indre Miseikyte, managers of INVL Baltic Farmland. 
5 According to Paragraph 2 of Article 24 of the Law on Securities of the Republic of Lithuania, it is considered that Indre Miseikyte has 
votes of Alvydas Banys and Darius Sulnis, managers of INVL Baltic Farmland. 

Name of the 

shareholder or 
company 

Number of 

shares held 
by the right 

of 
ownership, 

units 

Share of 
the 

authorise
d capital 

held, % 

Share of the votes, % 

Share of votes 
given by the 

shares held by 
the right of 

ownership, % 

Indirectly held 

votes, % 
Total, % 

LJB Investments, UAB 
code 300822575,  
Juozapavičiaus str. 9A, 
Vilnius 

1,002,724 30.44 30.46 0 30.46 

Irena Ona Mišeikienė 952,072 28.90 28.92 0 28.92 

Lucrum Investicija, UAB 
code 300806471. 
Šeimyniškių str. 3, Vilnius 

677,788 20.58 20.58 2.02 22.58 

Alvydas Banys 252,875 7.68 7.68 55.03 62.72 

Darius Šulnis 0,00 0.00 0.00 62.724 62.72 

Indrė Mišeikytė 65,758 2.00 2.00 60.725 62.72 
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9.1. Rights and obligations carried by the shares 

 

9.1.2. Rights of the shareholders 

The Company’s shareholders have the following property and non-property rights: 
1) to receive a part of the Company's profit (dividend); 
2) to receive the company’s funds when the authorised capital of the company is reduced with a view to paying out 

the company’s funds to the shareholders; 
3) to receive a part of assets of the company in liquidation; 
4) to receive shares without payment if the authorised capital is increased out of the Company funds, except in cases 

provided by the laws of the Republic of Lithuania;  
5) to have the pre-emption right in acquiring shares or convertible debentures issued by the Company, except in cases 

when the General Shareholders’ Meeting in the manner prescribed in the Law on Companies of the Republic of 
Lithuania decides to withdraw the pre-emption right in acquiring the Company’s newly issued shares or convertible 
debentures for all the shareholders; 

6)  to lend to the company in the manner prescribed by law; however, when borrowing from its shareholders, the 
company may not pledge its assets to the shareholders. When the company borrows from a shareholder, the interest 
may not be higher than the average interest rate offered by commercial banks of the locality where the lender has 
his place of residence or business, which was in effect on the day of conclusion of the loan agreement. In such a 
case the company and shareholders shall be prohibited from negotiating a higher interest rate; 

7)  other property rights provided by laws; 
8)  to attend the General Shareholders’ Meetings; 
9) to submit to the Company in advance the questions connected with the issues on the agenda of the General 

Meeting of Shareholders; 
10)  to vote at the General Shareholders’ Meetings according to voting rights carried by their shares; 
11)  to receive information on the Company specified in the Law on Companies of the Republic of Lithuania; 
12)  to appeal to the court for reparation of damage resulting from nonfeasance or malfeasance by the Company’s 

manager and the Board members of their obligations prescribed by the Law on Companies of Republic of Lithuania 
and other laws of the Republic of Lithuania and the Company’s Articles of Association as well as in other cases laid 
down by laws; 

13)  other non-property rights established by laws and the Company’s Articles of Association. 
 

 

9.2. Obligations of the shareholders 

The shareholders have no property obligations to the Company, except for the obligation to pay up, in the established 
manner, all the shares subscribed for at their issue price.  
If the General Shareholders’ Meeting takes a decision to cover the losses of the Company from additional contributions 
made by the shareholders, the shareholders who voted "for" shall be obligated to pay the contributions. The 
shareholders who did not attend the General Shareholders’ Meeting or voted against such a resolution shall have the 
right to refrain from paying additional contributions.  
The person who acquired all shares in the company or the holder of all shares in the company who transferred a part of 
his shares to another person must notify the company of the acquisition or transfer of shares within 5 days from the 
conclusion of the transaction. The notice shall indicate the number of acquired or transferred shares, the nominal share 
price and the particulars of the person who acquired or transferred the shares (the natural person's full name, personal 
number and address; the name, legal form it has taken, registration number, address of the registered office of the legal 
person.) 
Contracts between the company and holder of all its share shall be executed in a simple written form, unless the Civil 
Code prescribes the mandatory notarised form. 
A shareholder shall repay the Company any dividend paid out in violation of the mandatory norms of the Law on 
Companies, if the Company proves that the shareholder knew or should have known thereof. 
Each shareholder shall be entitled to authorise a natural or legal person to represent him when maintaining contacts with 
the Company and other persons. 
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III. ISSUER’S MANAGING BODIES 
 

10. Structure, authorities, the procedure for appointment and replacement 

 

 
 
The governing bodies of INVL Baltic Farmland, AB are: the General Shareholders’ Meeting, sole governing body – the 
director and a collegial governing body – the Board. The Supervisory Board is not formed. 
 

10.1. General Shareholders’ Meeting 

10.1.1.  Powers of the General Shareholders’ Meeting  

Persons who were shareholders of the Company at the close of the accounting day of the meeting (the 5th working day 
before the General Shareholders’ Meeting) shall have the right to attend and vote at the General Shareholders’ Meeting 
in person, unless otherwise provided for by laws, or may authorise other persons to vote for them as proxies or may 
conclude an agreement on the disposal of the voting right with third parties. The shareholder’s right to attend the 
General Shareholders’ Meeting shall also cover the right to speak and enquire. 

The General Shareholders’ Meeting may take decisions and shall be held valid if attended by the shareholders who hold 
the shares carrying not less than ½ of all votes. After the presence of a quorum has been established, the quorum shall 
be deemed to be present throughout the General Shareholders’ Meeting. If a quorum is not present, the General 
Shareholders’ Meeting shall be considered invalid and a repeat General Shareholders’ Meeting must be convened, which 
shall be authorised to take decisions only on the issues on the agenda of the General Shareholders’ Meeting that has not 
been held and to which the quorum requirement shall not apply.  

An Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting must be held every year at least within 4 months from the close of the 
financial year. 

The General Shareholders’ Meeting shall have the exclusive right to:  

• amend the Articles of Association of the Company, unless otherwise provided for by the Law on Companies of 
the Republic of Lithuania; 

• elect members of the Board;  
• dismiss the Board or its members; 
• elect and dismiss the firm of auditors, set the conditions for auditor remuneration; 
• determine the class, number, nominal value and the minimum issue price of the shares issued by the Company; 
• take a decision regarding conversion of shares of one class into shares of another class, approve share 

conversion procedure; 
• take a decision to replace private limited liability company share certificates by shares; 
• approve the annual accounts and the report on company operations; 
• take a decision on profit/loss appropriation; 
• take a decision on the formation, use, reduction and liquidation of reserves; 
• take a decision on the issue of convertible debentures; 
• take a decision on withdrawal for all the shareholders the pre-emption right to acquire the Company’s shares or 

convertible debentures of the specific issue;  
• take a decision to increase the authorised capital; 
• take a decision to reduce the authorised capital, except the cases provided for by the Law on Companies of the 

Republic of Lithuania; 
• take a decision for the Company to purchase its own shares; 
• take a decision on the reorganisation or split-off of the Company and approve the terms of reorganisation or 

split-off; 
• take a decision on transformation of the Company;  

General Shareholders' Meeting

The Board (3 members)

Director



 

47 
 

• take a decision on restructuring of the Company; 
• take a decision to liquidate the Company, cancel the liquidation of the Company, except the cases provided by 

the Law on Companies of the Republic of Lithuania; 
• elect and dismiss the liquidator of the Company, except the cases provided by the Law on Companies of the 

Republic of Lithuania. 
The General Shareholders’ Meeting may also decide on other matters assigned within the scope of its powers by the 
Articles of Association of the Company, unless these have been assigned under the Law on Companies of the Republic of 
Lithuania within the scope of powers of other organs of the Company and provided that, in their essence, these are not 
the functions of the governing bodies. 

10.1.2. Convocation of the General Shareholders’ Meeting of INVL Baltic Farmland, AB 

The documents related to the agenda, draft resolutions on every item of agenda, documents what have to be submitted 
to the General Shareholders Meeting and other information related to realization of shareholders rights are available at 
the registered office of the Company during working hours. 

The shareholders are entitled: (i) to propose to supplement the agenda of the General Shareholders Meeting submitting 
draft resolution on every additional item of agenda or, than there is no need to make a decision - explanation of the 
shareholder. Proposal to supplement the agenda is submitted in writing by registered mail or delivered in person against 
signature. The agenda is supplemented if the proposal is received no later than 14 before the General Shareholders 
Meeting; (ii) to propose draft resolutions on the issues already included or to be included in the agenda of the General 
Shareholders Meeting at any time prior to the date of the General Shareholders meeting (in writing, by registered mail or 
delivered in person against signature) or in writing during the General Shareholders Meeting; (iii) to submit questions to 
the Company related to the issues of agenda of the General Shareholders Meeting in advance but no later than 3 
business days prior to the General Shareholders Meeting in writing by registered mail or delivered in person against 
signature. 

Shareholder participating at the General Shareholders Meeting and having the right to vote must submit documents 
confirming personal identity. Each shareholder may authorize either a natural or a legal person to participate and to vote 
on the shareholder's behalf at the General Shareholders Meeting. The representative has the same rights as his 
represented shareholder at the General Shareholders Meeting. The authorized persons must have documents confirming 
their personal identity and power of attorney approved in the manner specified by law which must be submitted to the 
Company no later than before the commencement of registration for the General Shareholders Meeting. Shareholder is 
entitled to issue power of attorney by means of electronic communications for legal or natural persons to participate and 
to vote on its behalf at the General Shareholders Meeting. The shareholders must inform the Company about power of 
attorney issued by means of electronic communications no later than before the commencement of registration for the 
General Shareholders Meeting. The power of attorney issued by means of electronic communications and notice about it 
must be written and submitted to the Company by means of electronic communications. 

Shareholder or its representative may vote in writing by filling general voting bulletin, in such a case the requirement to 
deliver a personal identity document does not apply. The form of general voting bulletin is presented at the Company's 
webpage. If shareholder requests, the Company shall send the general voting bulletin to the requesting shareholder by 
registered mail or shall deliver it in person against signature no later than 10 days prior to the General Shareholders 
Meeting free of charge. The filled general voting bulletin must be signed by the shareholder or its authorized 
representative. Document confirming the right to vote must be added to the general voting bulletin if authorized person 
is voting. The filled general voting bulletin must be delivered to the Company by means of electronic communications, 
registered mail or in person against signature no later than before the day of the General Shareholders Meeting.  

For the convenience of the shareholders of INVL Baltic Farmland, AB the company provides notifications about 
convocation of General Shareholders Meeting, draft resolutions as well as general voting bulletins and resolutions 
adopted in the Meetings in the section For Investors reference Shareholders' Meeting Voting Results on the company‘s 
web page.  

2 (two) General Shareholders Meetings of INVL Baltic Farmland, AB took place in 2014. The General Shareholders 
Meeting of 25 June 2014 approved a resolution to purchase of own shares (more information is provided in the part 6.1. 
„Information about ttreasury shares“). The General Shareholders Meeting of 23 December 2014 elected the audit 
company to audit company‘s financial statements for 2014, also the registered office of the company was changed and 
decisions regarding the audit committe were passed (the audit committe members were elected, the payment for the 
independent audit committe member was set, the audit committe rules were approved). The Ordinary shareholder 
meeting did not take place in 2014 since the company started its activity only in 29 April 2014. 

10.2.1. Powers of the Board 

The Board shall continue in office for the 4 year period or until a new Board is elected and commences its activities, but 
not longer than until the date of the Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting to be held during the final year of the term of 
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office of the Board. If individual members of the Board are elected, they shall serve only until the expiry of the term of 
office of the current Board. 

The Board or its members shall commence their activities after the close of the General Shareholders’ Meeting which 
elected the Board or its members. Where the Articles of Association of the Company are amended due to the increase in 
the number of its members, newly elected members of the Board may commence their activities solely from the date of 
registration of the amended Articles of Association. The Board shall elect the chairman of the Board from among its 
members. 

The General Shareholders’ Meeting may dismiss from the office the entire Board or its individual members (as well as the 
Chairman of the Board) before the expiry of their term of office. A member of the Board may resign from his post before 
the expiry of his term of office, notifying the Board in writing at least 14 calendar days in advance.  

The Board shall have all authorities provided for in the Articles of Association of the Company as well as those assigned 
to the Board by the laws. The activities of the Board shall be based on collegial consideration of issues and decision-
making as well as shared responsibility to the General Shareholders’ Meeting for the consequences of the decisions 
made. Striving for as big benefit for the Company and shareholders as possible and in order to ensure the integrity and 
transparency of the control system, the Board closely cooperates with the manager of the Company. The procedure of 
work of the Board shall be laid down in the rules of procedure of the Board. 

The Board shall consider and approve: 

• the operating strategy of the Company; 
• the management structure of the Company and the positions of the employees; 
• the positions to which employees are recruited through competition; 
• regulations of branches and representative offices of the Company. 

The Board shall elect and dismiss from office the manager of the Company, fix his salary and set other terms of the 
employment contract, approve his job description, provide incentives for and impose penalties against him.  

The Board shall determine which information shall be considered to be the Company's commercial secret and 
confidential information. Any information which must be publicly available under the laws may not be considered to be 
the commercial secret and confidential information.  

The Board shall take the following decisions: 
• for the Company to become an incorporator or a member of other legal entities; 
• to open branches and representative offices of the Company; 
• to invest, dispose of or lease the fixed assets which book value exceeds 1/20 of the authorised capital of the 

Company (calculated individually for every type of transaction);  
• to pledge or mortgage the fixed assets which book value exceeds 1/20 of the authorised capital of the 

Company (calculated for the total amount of transactions); 
• to offer surety or guarantee for the discharge of obligations of third parties for the amount which exceeds 1/20 

of the authorised capital of the Company; 
• to acquire the fixed assets for the price which exceeds 1/20 of the authorised capital of the Company; 
• to restructure the Company in the cases laid down by the Law on Restructuring of Enterprises of  the Republic 

of Lithuania; 
• other decisions assigned to the scope of powers of the Board by the Law on Companies of the Republic of 

Lithuania, Articles of Association or the decisions of the General Shareholders’ Meeting. 
The Board shall analyse and evaluate the information submitted by the manager of the Company on: 

• the implementation of the operating strategy of the Company; 
• the organisation of the activities of the Company;  
• the financial status of the Company; 
• the results of business activities, income and expenditure estimates, the stocktaking data and other accounting 

data of changes in the assets. 
The Board shall analyse and assess a set of Company's and consolidated annual financial statements and draft of 
profit/loss appropriation and shall submit them to the General Shareholders’ Meeting together with the annual report of 
the Company.  

It shall be the duty of the Board to convene and organise the General Shareholders’ Meetings in due time. 

10.2.2. Procedure of work of the Board 

The order of the formation of the Board of the company should ensure objective, impartial and fair representation of 
minority shareholders of the company: names and surnames of the candidates to become members of the Board of the 
company, information about their education, qualification, professional background, positions taken in supervisory and 
management Boards of other companies, owned block of shares in other companies, larger than 1/20, potential conflicts 
of interest,  information on whether the candidates are applied to administrative sanctions or punishment for violations / 
crimes against the economy, business policy, property, property rights and property interests, or do they have no 
obligations neither functions which would threaten the safe and reliable operations of the company, or whether 
candidates meet the legal requirements made for the Managers, are disclosed not later than 10 days prior the General 
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Shareholders’ Meeting in which the election of the Members of the Board is intended, so that the shareholders would 
have sufficient time to make an informed voting decision 

In order to maintain a proper balance in terms of the current qualifications possessed by its members, the desired 
composition of the Board of the company are determined with regard to the company’s structure and activities. The 
Board plans to evaluate its performance once a year.  

Any Member of the Board of the company must confound companies property with its own property and do not use it or 
information which they received while holding position as the Members of the Board for personal benefit or for the 
benefit of third party on other way than the General Shareholders Meeting and the Board allows it.  

Any Member of the Board of the company within 5 (five) days must inform the Manager or the Chairman of the company 
on any subsequent changes in provided information that have been submitted for shareholders prior to the election of 
the Member of the Board. Changes in provided information are disclosed in the company's annual report. 

Each Member of the Board actively participates in the Meetings of Board and devotes sufficient time and attention to 
perform his duties as the Member of the Board. 11 Meetings of the Board of the company have been held in 2014. Since 
the start of the company, the compostion of the Board has not changed and consisted from: Alvydas Banys, Indrė 
Mišeikytė and Darius Šulnis. 

10.3. The Director 

The manager of the Company (the Director) shall be elected and dismissed from office by the Board which shall also fix 
his salary, approve his job description, provide incentives and impose penalties. An employment contract shall be 
concluded with the Director. The Director shall assume office after the election, unless otherwise provided for in the 
contract concluded with him. If the Board adopts a decision on his removal from office, the employment contract 
therewith shall be terminated.  

In his activities, the Director shall be guided by laws and other legal acts, the Articles of Association of the Company, 
decisions of the General Shareholders’ Meeting and the Board, his job description. The Director is accountable to the 
Board. 

The Director shall organise daily activities of the Company, hire and dismiss employees, conclude and terminate 
employment contracts therewith, provide incentives and impose penalties. 

The Director shall act on behalf of the Company and shall be entitled to enter into transactions at his own discretion. The 
Director may conclude the transactions to invest, dispose of or lease the fixed assets for the book value which exceeds 
1/20 of the authorised capital of the Company (calculated individually for every type of transaction), to pledge or 
mortgage the fixed assets for the book value which exceeds 1/20 of the authorised capital of the Company (calculated 
for the total amount of transactions), to offer surety or guarantee for the discharge of obligations of third parties for the 
amount which exceeds 1/20 of the authorised capital of the Company, to acquire the fixed assets for the price which 
exceeds 1/20 of the authorised capital of the Company, provided there is a decision of the Board to enter into these 
transactions.  

The Director shall be responsible for:  
• the organisation of activities and the implementation of objects of the company 
• the drawing up of the annual accounts; 
• the conclusion of the contract with the firm of auditors where the audit is mandatory or required under the 

Statutes of the company; 
• the submission of information and documents to the General Meeting, the Supervisory Board and the Board in 

cases laid down in this Law or at their request; 
• the submission of documents and particulars of the company to the administrator of the Register of Legal 

Persons; 
• the submission of the documents of a public limited liability company to the Securities Commission and the 

Central Securities Depository of Lithuania; 
• the publication of information referred to in this Law in the daily indicated in the Statutes; 
• the submission of information to shareholders; 
• the fulfilment of other duties laid down in this Law and other laws and legal acts as well as in the Statutes and 

the staff regulations of the manager of the company. 
The Director must keep commercial secrets and confidential information of the Company which he learned while holding 
this office. 
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11. Information about members of the Board, Company providing accounting services and the 
Audit Committee of the Company 

The Board of INVL Baltic Farmland, AB was elected during the General Shareholders’ Meeting of INVL Baltic Farmland, 
AB the company split-off from Invalda LT, AB on 28 April 2014. Mr. Banys was elected as the Chairman of the Board. Mr. 
Šulnis and Ms. Mišeikytė were elected as the Members of the Board. Mr. Šulnis was appointed as the director of the 
company on 28 April 2014. 

  Alvydas Banys – Chairman of the Board 

The term of office From 2014 untill 2017 

Educational background and 
qualifications 

Vilnius Gediminas Technical University. Faculty of Civil Engineering. Master in 
Engineering and Economics. 

Junior Scientific co-worker. Economic‘s Institute of Lithuania‘s Science Academy. 

Work experience Since 1 July 2013 Invalda LT, AB - Advisor 
Since 2007 LJB Investments, UAB - Director 
Since 2007 JLB Property, UAB - Director 
1996 – 2006 Invalda, AB - Vice President 
1996 – 2007 Nenuorama, UAB - President 

Owned amount of shares in 
INVL Baltic Farmland, AB  

Personally: 252,875 units of shares, 7.68 %  of authorised capital, 7.68 %  of votes.  
Together with controlled company LJB Investments: 1,255,599 units of shares, 38.12 % 
of authorized capital, 38.14 % of votes. 
Total votes (together with Members of the Board of INVL Baltic Farmland) – 62.72 %. 

Participation in other 
companies 

Invalda LT, AB – Chairman of the Board 
MP Pension Funds Baltic, UAB - Member of the Board 
Invalda LT Investments, UAB – Chairman of the Board 
INVL Baltic Real Estate, AB – Chairman of the Board 
INVL Technology, AB – Member of the Board 

   Indrė Mišeikytė – Member of the Board 

The term of office From 2014 untill 2017  

Educational background and 
qualifications 

Vilnius Gedimino Technical University. Faculty of Architecture. Master in Architecture 

Work experience Since May 2012 Invalda LT, AB  - Advisor  
Since June 2013 Invalda Privatus Kapitalas, AB – Advisor 
Since 2002 Inreal Valdymas, UAB - Architect  
Since 2002 Gildeta, UAB - Architect 

Owned amount of shares in 
INVL Baltic Farmland, AB 

Personally: 65,758 units of shares, 2 %  of authorised capital, 2 % of votes. 
Total votes (together with Members of the Board of INVL Baltic Farmland) – 62.72%. 

Participation in other 
companies 

Invalda LT, AB – Member of the Board 
Invalda Privatus Kapitalas, AB  – Member of the Board  
INVL Baltic Real Estate, AB – Member of the Board 
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   Darius Šulnis – Member of the Board, director 

The term of office From 2014 untill 2017  

Educational background and 
qualifications 

Duke University (USA). Business Administration. Global Executive MBA. 
Vilnius University. Faculty of Economics. Master in Accounting and Audit. 
Financial broker‘s license (General) No. A109. 

Work experience 2006 – 2011 Invalda, AB – President. 2011 – 2013 Invalda, AB – Advisor. Since May 
2013  Invalda LT, AB – President. 
Since January 2015 Director of Finasta Asset Management, UAB 
2002 – 2006 Invalda Real Estate, UAB (current name Inreal Valdymas) – Director 
1994 – 2002 FBC Finasta, AB – Director 

Owned amount of shares in 
INVL Baltic Farmland, AB 

Personally: 0 units of shares, 0,00 %  of authorised capital and  votes.  
Together with controlled company Lucrum Investicija: 677,788 units of shares, 20.58 % 
of authorised capital, 22.58 % of votes (including votes granted by the shares 
transferred by the repurchase agreement). 
Total votes (together with Members of the Board of INVL Baltic Farmland) – 62.72 %. 

Participation in other 
companies 

Invalda LT, AB – Member of the Board, the president 
MP Pension Funds Baltic, UAB - Member of the Board 
Litagra, UAB – Member of the Board  
Invalda LT Investments, UAB – director, Member of the Board  
Bank Finasta, AB – Member of the Supervisory Board 
Finasta Asset Management, UAB – CEO, Chairman of the Board 
Finasta Asset Management, UAB (Latvia)  - Deputy of the chairman of the Supervisory 
Board 
Finasta atklātajs pensiju fonds, AB (Latvia) - Deputy of the chairman of the Supervisory 
Board 

 

Invalda LT, AB provides accounting services and preparation of the documents related with bookkeeping for INVL Baltic 
Farmland, AB according to an agreement signed on 30 April 2014 No. 20140430/03. 

12. Information about the Audit Committee of the company. 

The Audit Committee consists of 2 members, one of whom is independent. The members of the Audit Committee are 
elected by the General Shareholders’ Meeting. The main functions of the Committee are the following: 

• provide recommendations for the Board of the company with selection, appointment, reappointment and 
removal of an external audit company as well as the terms and conditions of engagement with the audit 
company; 

• monitor the process of external audit; 
• monitor how the external auditor and audit company follow the principles of independence and objectivity; 
• observe the preparation process of company‘s financial reports; 
• monitor the efficiency of company’s internal control and risk management systems. Once a year review the need 

of the internal audit function; 
• monitor if the company‘s board and/or managers  properly responce to the audit firm‘s recommendations and 

comments. 
The Member of the Audit Committee of INVL Baltic Farmland, AB may resign from his post before the expiry of term of 
office, notifying the Board of the company in writing at least 14 calendar days in advance.  When the Board of the 
Company receives the notice of resignation and estimates all circumstances related to it, the Board may pass the 
decision either to convene the Extraordinary General Shareholders Meeting to elect the new member of the Audit 
Committee or to postpone the question upon the election of the new member of the Audit Committee until the nearest 
General Shareholders Meeting. In any case the new member is elected till the end of term of office of the operating 
Audit Committee. 
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Procedure of work of the audit committee 

The Audit Committee is a collegial body, taking decisions during meetings. The Audit Committee may take decisions and 
its meeting should be considered valid, when both members of the Committee participate in it. The decision should be 
passed when both members of the Audit Committee vote for it. The Member of the Audit Committee may express his will 
– for or against the decision in question, the draft of which he is familiar with – by voting in advance in writing. Voting in 
writing should be considered equal to voting by telecommunication end devices, provided text protection is ensured and 
it is possible to identify the signature. The right of initiative of convoking the meetings of the Audit Committee is held by 
both Members of the Audit Committee. The other Member of the Audit Committee should be informed about the 
convoked meeting, questions that will be discussed there and the suggested drafts of decisions not later than 3 (three) 
business days in advance in writing (by e-mail or fax).  The meetings of the Audit Committee should not be recorded, 
and the taken decisions should be signed by both Members of the committee. When both Audit Committee Members 
vote in writing, the decision should be written down and signed by the secretary of the Audit Committee who should be 
appointed by the Board of the Company. The decision should be written down and signed within 7 (seven) days from the 
day of the meeting of the Audit Committee. 

The Audit Committee should have the right to invite the Manager of the Company, Member(s) of the Board, the chief 
financier, and employees responsible for finance, accounting and treasury issues as well as external auditors to its 
meetings. Members of the Audit Committee may receive remuneration for their work in the committee at the maximum 
hourly rate approved by the General Shareholders’ Meeting. 

The General Shareholders Meeting which took place on 23 December 2014 decided to elect Danute Kadanaite and 
Tomas Bubinas (independent member) to the Audit Committee of INVL Baltic Farmland, AB for the 4 (four) years term of 
office. 

  Danutė Kadanaitė – Member of the Audit Committee 

The term of office Since 2014 until 2017 

Educational background and 
qualifications 

2004 – 2006 Mykolas Romeris University. Faculty of Law. Master in Financial Law 
2000 – 2004 m. Faculty of Law, BA in Law 
1997 International School of Management 

Work experience Since 2009 Lawyer. Legisperitus, UAB  
2008 – 2009 Lawyer, Finasta FBC  
2008 – Lawyer, Invalda, AB  
1999 – 2002 Administrator, Office of Attorney of Law Arturas Sukevicius  
1994 – 1999 Legal Consultant, Financial brokerage company Apyvarta, UAB 

Owned amount of shares in 
INVL Baltic Farmland, AB 

-  

  Tomas Bubinas – Independent Member of the Audit Committee 
The term of office Since 2014 until 2017 
Educational background and 
qualifications 

2004 – 2005 Baltic Management Institute (BMI), Executive MBA 
1997 – 2000 Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. ACCA. Fellow Member  
1997 Lithuanian Sworn Registered Auditor  
1988 – 1993 Vilnius University, Msc. in Economics 

 continued on the next page 
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 the beginning of the table is on the previous page 
Work experience Since 2013 Chief Operating Officer at Biotechpharma, UAB 

2010 – 2012 Senior Director, Operations. TEVA Biopharmaceuticals (USA)  
1999 – 2001 Senior Manager, PricewaterhouseCoopers  
1994 – 1999 Senior Auditor, Manager, Coopers & Lybrand. 

Owned amount of shares in 
INVL Baltic Farmland, AB 

-  

13. Information on the amounts calculated by the Issuer, other assets transferred and 
guarantees granted to the Members of the Board, director and company providing accounting 

services 

CEO of the company is entitled only to a fixed salary. The company does not have a policy concerning payment of a 
variable part of remuneration to the management.  

During the year 2014 the Members of the Board did not receive dividends or bonuses from the company. There were no 
assets transferred, no guarantees granted, no bonuses paid and no special payouts made by the company to its 
managers. The Members of the Board were not granted with bonuses by other companies of INVL Baltic Farmland, AB 
group. 

Since the beginning of activities of INVL Baltic Farmland till the end of the reporting period the payment for the company 
providing accounting services amounted to 5600 litas. 

Table 13.1. Information about calculated remuneration for the CEO of the issuer.  

 

Calculated remuneration 

2014 

For members of administration (the CEO) 8,032 
 

IV. INFORMATION ABOUT THE ISSUER’S AND ITS GROUP COMPANIES’ ACTIVITY 

14. Overview of the Issuer and its group activity 

14.1. Business environment 

Agricultural sector 

INVL Baltic Farmland has 100% stakes in 18 companies owning more than 3 thousand hectares of agricultural land in 
the most fertile regions of Lithuania. In the long run the company seeks to gain profit from an increase in rent as well as 
land value growth. 

According to valuation, which took place in the middle of 2014, the total value of the managed land was LTL 36.5 
million, or LTL 12.1 thousand per hectare. Compared to valuation in the end of 2013, land portfolio decreased by 1.2 
percent.  Cadastral measurements of the land plots as well as land plots’ soil tests, which have not been carried out in 
2013, have been finalized in 2014. 

Since May 2014 changes to the Agricultural Land Acquisition temporary law entered into force. Under these changes, the 
persons cannot acquire more than 500 hectares of agricultural land. Also, the amount of people having pre-emptive right 
to purchase the land was expanded. Restrictions define that persons who own more than 25 percent of shares in 
agricultural land companies, as well as persons who own more than 25 percent in several companies are held as related 
parties. Therefore, those willing to purchase additional agricultural land have to have documents proving that the 
person, during the last 10 years before the deal, was engaged in agricultural activity for at least 3 years and has 
declared his farmland as well as crop. For legal entities restrictions define that they have to additionally provide 
documents proving that more than 50 percent of their business annual income comes from farming activities and 
company is economically sound.   

The above mentioned correction determines that the public joint-stock company INVL Baltic Farmland and its Group 
companies will not be able to invest directly in agricultural land in Lithuania, also cannot take control in companies 
owning the agricultural land. 

Also in May 2014, the prohibition for foreigners to buy land in Lithuania has expired. It was sought to extend the 
restrictions expiry term by the referendum, but it did not happen. 

According to the publication by the Center of Agriculture Information and Agriculture Business, in the registry of real 
estate 65.8 percent of total land was farmland, forests took another 29.6 percent while water and conservational 
purpose land made up 0.1 percent each, other purpose land constituted 4.4 percent. Compared to the latest quarter of 
2013 farmland has showed the biggest growth from 60.4 to 65.8 percent.  

Agricultural land market was heavily affected by the tension between Russia and western countries and unpredictable 
legal restrictions and significantly slowed down in 2014. When comparing first three quarters of 2014 with the 
corresponding period of 2013 and 2012, the size of the market in monetary terms shrank by 30 percent and 20 percent 
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respectively. During the last quarter of 2014 the market has shown some signs of recovery - September and October 
transactions were growing on month-on-month basis (8.5 percent and 9.3 percent respectively), however November was 
weaker as usual. 

Unfavourable conditions for farmland transactions have given stronger ground for rental market. Renting farmland lets 
farmers act more flexibly and adjust their actions according to the market. Similar sentiments, if there are no 
unexpected radical changes, are expected in 2015 too, according to the publication by the Center of Agriculture 
Information and Agriculture Business. 

 

Group key figures  

31 December 2014 

 

 LTL thousand litas,  

if not stated otherwise 

EUR thousand,  

if not stated otherwise 

Controlled cultivated cropland area, ha 3002  3.002 

Book value of land,  36,456*  10,558* 

Average rental income per hectare in 2014 377 LTL  109 EUR 

Consolidated equity 34,290  9,931 

Number of votes, units 3,292,259  3,292,259 

Book value of one share 10.42 LTL  3.017 EUR 

*Investment properties are stated at fair value and are valued by accredited valuer UAB korporacija Matininkai using 
sales comparison method. The valuation was performed in June-July 2014. 

 

The balance sheet and profit (loss) summary reports 

 Group Company 

Balance sheet 

31 December 2014 

 LTL thousand, 

 if not stated 
otherwise 

EUR thousand, 

 if not stated 
otherwise 

 LTL thousand, 

 if not stated 
otherwise 

EUR thousand, 

 if not stated 
otherwise 

Investment property 36,456 10,558 - - 

Investments into subsidiaries - - 16,800 4,866 

Loans granted - - 16,943 4,907 

Trade receivables  78 23 - - 

Deferred tax assets 15 4 15 4 

Cash 726 210 587 170 

Other assets 18 5 - - 

Deferred income tax liabilities 2,889 837 - - 

Other current liabilities 114 33 55 16 

Consolidated equity 34,290 9,931 34,290 9,931 
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Profit (loss)  

31 December 2014 

 LTL thousand, 

 if not stated 
otherwise 

EUR thousand, 

 if not stated 
otherwise 

 LTL thousand, 

 if not stated 
otherwise 

EUR thousand, 

 if not stated 
otherwise 

Revenue 794 230 - - 

Income before tax 380 110 385 112 

Net profit 309 89 309 89 

 

14.2. Significant Issuer’s and its group events during the reporting period, affect on the financial 

statement 

The Company  

• On 20 May 2014 the company informed that the Supervisory Authority of the Bank of Lithuania decided to treat 
the information submitted in the split-off terms of Invalda LT, AB related documentation, in the list of 
references related to INVL Baltic Farmland, AB, in the description of the risk factors as information equivalent to 
the information that is required to be disclosed in the prospectus of INVL Baltic Farmland, AB. The Board of 
INVL Baltic Farmland decided to apply NASDAQ OMX Vilnius stock exchange to admit company's shares into the 
Secondary list since 4 June 2014. 

• On 30 May 2014 INVL Baltic Farmland, AB disclosed its managed assets and plans. The company owns 18 
companies, managed about 3 thousand hectares of land. The total value of the managed land was LTL 36.972 
million (EUR 10.7 million). Consolidated shareholders' equity amounted to LTL 34.313 million (EUR 9.94 
million). 

• The General Shareholders Meeting of INVL Baltic Farmland, AB that was held on 25 June 2014 approved 
resolution to purchase of own shares. A reserve for purchase of own shares, which is equal to LTL 
10,659,595.78, was formed in INVL Baltic Farmland. Max number of shares to be acquired – the total nominal 
value of own shares acquired during the whole period may not exceed 1/10 of share capital. The period during 
which the company may acquire its own shares - 12 months from the day of this resolution. The maximum one 
share acquisition price – EUR 4.00 (LTL 13.81), minimum one share acquisition price – EUR 2.86 (LTL 9.88). 
Purchased own shares may be cancelled by the decision of the General Shareholders Meeting or sold by the 
decision of the Board upon the condition that minimum sale price for one share isn’t lower than value of 
consolidated equity per one share calculated according to the last financial statements of INVL Baltic Farmland, 
which was announced before the decision of the Board, and the sale procedure will ensure equal possibilities 
for all shareholders to purchase these shares. 

• On 8 August 2014 INVL Baltic Farmland, AB announced its results for the first half of 2014. At the end of June, 
2014 INVL Baltic Farmland consolidated equity was equal to LTL 34.115 million (EUR 9.88 million) or LTL 10.36 
(EUR 3) per share. INVL Baltic Farmland uses no leverage. 

• On 12 August 2014 the Board of INVL Baltic Farmland, AB taking into account that INVL Baltic Farmland's share 
price on NASDAQ OMX Vilnius stock exchange was more than 5 percent lower than the equity value per one 
share (EUR 3 or LTL 10.36) and considering the Resolution of the General Shareholders meeting held on 25 
June 2014, initiated an acquisition of own ordinary registered LTL 1 (one) nominal value. shares. The 
acquisition will be implemented through the market of official offer of NASDAQ OMX Vilnius stock exchange. 

• On 30 September 2014 INVL Baltic Farmland, AB finished implementation of the share buy-back procedure. The 
company will acquire 0.06 % of own shares for the total amount of EUR 5,577 (LTL 19,256) (excluding 
brokerage fees). INVL Baltic Farmland, AB could purchase up to 16 471 units of shares. During the share buy-
back procedure it was offered to buy 1 950 units of shares. 

• On 3 October 2014 INVL Baltic Farmland settled for treasury shares and acquired 1,950 units of shares (0.06 % 
of share capital) for the amount of EUR 5,577 (LTL 19,256) during the share buy-back procedure, which took 
place from 14 August till 30 September. The company paid EUR 2.86 (LTL 9.88) for one share. 

• On 29 October 2014 unaudited results of INVL Baltic Farmland for 9 months of 2014were announced. 
Unaudited consolidated net profit as well as consolidated net profit attributable to shareholders of INVL Baltic 
Farmland amounted to LTL 194 thousand (EUR 56.2 thousand). 

• 23 December General Shareholder Meeting of the company passed the folloowing resolutions: to elect joint-
stock company PricewaterhouseCoopers, code 111473315, to audit annual financial statements for the financial 
year 2014 and to set the payment for the audit services not more than LT 24 000 (twenty four thousand litas), 
VAT is not included in this amount; to change the registered office of INVL Baltic Farmland and to register the 
new address in the premises located at Seimyniskiu str. 1A, Vilnius, Lithuania (unique No. 1399-8031-1015); to 
elect Danute Kadanaite and Tomas Bubinas (independent member) to the Audit Committee of INVL Baltic 
Farmland, AB for the 4 (four) years term of office; for a work in the Audit Committee of INVL Baltic Farmland, 
AB, to set a rate not higher than 500 Litas per hour, to delegate to the Board of the Company to determine the 
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remuneration payment procedure for the Audit Committee members; to approve the regulations of the 
formation and activity of the Audit Committee of INVL Baltic Farmland, AB. 

• The investors‘ calendar for 2015 was announced on 30 December: 27 January 2015 – preliminary result for 12 
months of 2014. 27 February 2015 - Interim information for 12 months of 2014. 28 April 2015 - Interim 
information for 3 months of 2015. 24 July 2015 - Interim information for 6 months of 2015.  27 October 2015 - 
Interim information for 9 months of 2015. 
 

The group  

Since the begining of the activity of the Issuer until the end of the reporting period, there were no important events in 
the activities of the land owning companies. The companies rented agricultural land for farmers and agricultural 
companies and performed usual activity during the reporting period.  
 

 14.3. Employees 

There is only one employee (director) at INVL Baltic Farmland, AB. Invalda LT, AB provides accounting services for the 
company. Employment agreements are concluded following requirements of the Labour Code of the Republic of 
Lithuania. Employees are employed and laid off following requirements of the Labour Code. There are no special 
employees’ rights and duties described in the employment agreements.  

There were 5 employees working at INVL Baltic Farmland and INVL Baltic Farmland subsidiary companies on 12 
December 2014. 

 

14.4. Information about agreements of the Company and the members of the Board, or the employees’ 
agreements providing for compensation in case of the resignation or in case they are dismissed without a 

due reason or their employment is terminated in view of the change of the control of the Company. 

There are no agreements of the company and the Members of the Board, or the employees’ agreements providing for 
compensation in case of the resignation or in case they are dismissed without a due reason or their employment is 
terminated in view of the change of the control of the company. 

 

15. A description of the principal advantages, risks and uncertainties 

15.1. Advantages of investments 

Agricultural land in Lithuania is undervaluated 

Agricultural land prices in Lithuania are among the lowest in the European Union, and much lower than in neighbouring 
Poland. This is caused by increased land fragmentation and other reasons. 

Land allows saving core capital and has a low risk 

After recent market turmoil, investors are paying more and more attention on capital preservation. Investment in 
agricultural land is backed by assets which has only a small possibility of devaluation. Historical data shows that land, in 
the long term, is characterized by strong core capital preservation features. Unlike investments in exhaustible metals, oil 
and gas resources, a well-managed agricultural land is a completely renewable resource, which remains productive 
forever. 

Land is a good protection against inflation 

Agricultural land, as an asset class, has a positive correlation with inflation. Historically, agricultural land values rose 
faster than inflation, therefore agricultural land is an effective insurance against inflation and a capital preservation tool. 
It may be attractive to investors, who are worried about governments’  inflationary policies. 

Land generates stable income 

Unlike other popular insurance against inflation measures, such as precious metals, land provides a regular income to 
the investor, which, in the low interest environment, is often higher than the deposit or bond interest. Although land 
investment does not bring the highest income in the real estate sector, not depreciating assets with strong price growth 
potential and close to 100 % occupation (unlike commercial real estate, high-quality agricultural land demand is always 
high, regardless of the economic environment) generate the income. 

Investment in land is characterized by lower income volatility 
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By placing agricultural land in a diversified portfolio, investors can reduce the risk of income shortage at a time when 
other assets generate little or no income. While the long-term rise in agricultural commodity prices positively affect the 
value of land, short-term fluctuations in the price of production are assumed by the farmer rather than the landowner. 

Historically, land had higher yield 

In developed countries agricultural land had higher profits than other asset classes, including equities, bonds and 
commercial real estate, despite the lower risk (measured as the standard deviation of the annual return). 

Land is an attractive diversification tool 

Agricultural land yield has a low or even negative correlation with traditional asset classes like stocks and bonds, and a 
small positive correlation with residential and commercial real estate. These features make farmland an attractive 
diversification tool that can reduce the impact of general market fluctuations on diversified portfolio. 

Agricultural land advantages compared with other real estate investments 
 
Investment in agricultural land is classified as a real estate, but has unique features. This allowed agricultural land to 
protect itself from extreme falls in the value of assets, which were experienced by residential and commercial property 
during the crisis. 
 

15.2. Risk factors 

Information, provided in this section, should not be considered complete and covering all aspects of the risk factors 
associated with the activity and securities of the public joint-stock company INVL Baltic Farmland. 

Risk factors, associated with activities of INVL Baltic Farmland 

Restriction of the purchase of agricultural land 

The public joint-stock company INVL Baltic Farmland will invest in agricultural land in Lithuania through its owned 
private companies. In 1 May 2014 changes to the Agricultural Land Acquisition temporary law (No. IX-1314) entered into 
force, providing restrictions of the purchase of agricultural land (including restriction of purchase of shares in the legal 
entity owning agricultural land). These restrictions mean that the public joint-stock company INVL Baltic Farmland and 
its owned private companies will not be able to purchase agricultural land additionally and/or acquire shares in 
companies owning agricultural land. 

Prohibition stated in the law can reduce the amount of buyers of agricultural land, owned by subsidiaries of the public 
joint-stock company INVL Baltic Farmland, and thus the liquidity and price of the asset. 

The total investment risk 

The value of the investment in agricultural land can vary in the short term, depending on the harvest, prices of 
agricultural products, local demand and supply fluctuations, competition between farmers and financial situation. 
Investment in agricultural land should be carried out in the medium and long term, so that investor can avoid the short-
term price fluctuations. Investing in real estate is connected with the long-term risks. After failure of investments or 
under other ill-affected circumstances (having been unable to pay for the creditors) the bankruptcy proceedings may be 
initiated. 

Agricultural production and other commodity price volatility risk 

Agricultural products and other commodities prices are historically characterized by very large fluctuations, on which, in 
many cases, depends the price of agricultural land. The main factor affecting profitability of agricultural business is the 
price of the crop (wheat, canola, etc.), but fuel, labor, fertilizers‘ and other commodity prices also affect the cost of 
agricultural activity, therefore their increase lowers profit margins and reduces the ability to pay higher prices for 
agricultural land leases. If high fuel, fertilizer and labor costs coincide with the fall of agricultural output prices, farmers 
and investors in the agricultural sector may suffer a loss. 

Common agricultural risk 

The public joint-stock company INVL Baltic Farmland will seek to lease its owned agricultural land to farmers and 
agricultural companies for the highest price possible. Factors that could adversely affect the agricultural sector may be: 
weather conditions (floods, droughts, heavy rains, hail, frost, weeds, pests, diseases, fire, climate change related 
worsening conditions and others). Any of these factors, together or separately, could have a negative impact on farmers' 
incomes and farmland values. Part of the risks, not all, can be insured, but the insurance costs reduce agricultural 
profitability, thus not all Lithuanian farmers do it. 
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Reliance on the European Union and national subsidies 

Lithuanian and the European Union farmers' activities and profits are highly dependent on the European Union's 
Common Agricultural Policy (CAP) - EU and national subsidies for agricultural activities. Recent changes to the CAP are 
valid for the period 2014-2020 and provide that direct payments for the Lithuanian farmers in 2014 will average 149 
euros, in 2020 - 196 euros per hectare (now Lithuania payments to farmers equal 144 euros) and will form 75 percent of 
all EU farmers received payments average. 

Elimination of direct payments could have a negative impact on agricultural land rents and values. 

Land illiquidity risk 

Investments in agricultural land under certain market conditions are relatively illiquid, thus finding buyers for these lands 
can take time. Investors may consider the investment in agricultural land only if they do not have needs for the sudden 
liquidity. 

Risk of legislative and regulatory changes 

Lithuanian law, the European Union directives and other legislative changes may affect the income of farmers and 
agricultural land rents. For example, changes affecting agricultural products price controls, export restrictions, customs 
entry or withdrawal, more stringent environmental restrictions could adversely affect the profitability of agriculture. 

Tax increase risk 

Tax laws change may lead to a greater taxation of the public joint-stock company INVL Baltic Farmland and its group 
companies, which in turn may reduce the profits and assets of the company. 

Inflation and deflation risk 

It is likely that during its operational period the public joint-stock company INVL Baltic Farmland will face both inflation 
and deflation risks as investments in agricultural land are long term. If the profit from the agriculture land rent will be 
less than the inflation rate, it will result in loss of purchasing power. It is estimated that investment in agricultural land 
profitability is highly correlated with inflation. 

Credit risk 

The public joint-stock company INVL Baltic Farmland will seek to lease agricultural land plots in the highest price 
possible to farmers in Lithuania and agricultural companies. There is a risk that tenants of the land will not fulfil their 
obligations - it would adversely affect the profit of the public joint-stock company INVL Baltic Farmland. Large parts of 
liabilities not fulfilled in time may cause disturbances in activities of the public joint-stock company INVL Baltic Farmland, 
there might be a need to seek additional sources of financing, which may not always be available. 

The public joint-stock company INVL Baltic Farmland also bears the risk of holding funds in bank accounts or investing in 
short-term financial instruments. 

Liquidity risk 

The public joint-stock company INVL Baltic Farmland may be faced with a situation where it will not be able to settle 
with suppliers and other creditors in time. The company will seek to maintain adequate liquidity levels or secure funding 
in order to reduce this risk. 

Currency risk 

The public joint-stock company INVL Baltic Farmland forms agricultural land rental transactions in Litas or Euros; 
therefore the currency risk is low. Lithuania adopted the Euro since 2015.  

Changes in the currency (Litas turning into Euros) affect the recalculation of the authorised capital as well as amount of 
shares in the company, therefore the part of the authorised capital owned by the shareholders after the recalculation 
may change slightly due to the rounding. 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk mainly includes loans with a variable interest rate. The public joint-stock company INVL Baltic Farmland 
plans to use very small amount of debt. Rising interest rates worldwide may adversely affect the values of property - 
agricultural land. 

Large shareholders risk 
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Three shareholders of the public joint-stock company INVL Baltic Farmland together with related parties at the start of 
company‘s activities hold more than 60 percent of shares and their voting will influence the election of the Members of 
the Boards of company, essential decisions regarding management of the public joint-stock company INVL Baltic 
Farmland, operations and financial position. There is no guarantee that the decisions made by the major shareholders‘ 
will always coincide with the opinion and interest of the minority shareholders. Large shareholders have the right to 
block the proposed solutions of other shareholders. 

The Split-Off from the public joint-stock company Invalda LT risk 

The public joint-stock company INVL Baltic Farmland established in the process of Split-Off of the public joint-stock 
company Invalda LT and took over 14.45 percent of assets, equity and liabilities of the public joint-stock company 
Invalda LT. If certain public joint-stock company‘s Invalda LT obligations will not be distributed to all companies 
operating after the separation, then all post-split-off-based companies will be jointly liable for it. Each of the companies‘ 
responsibility will be limited by the size of equity, attributable under the Split-Off conditions. 

When any obligation of the public joint-stock company Invalda LT under the terms of the Split-Off will be assigned to 
one of the company, established after the Split-Off, that company will be liable to answer the obligation. If this company 
does not meet the whole or part of the obligation, and there is no additional guarantee provided to creditors under the 
Company Law, all post-split-off companies will be jointly liable for that obligation (or part of it). Each of the companies‘ 
responsibility will be limited by the size of equity, attributable under the split-off conditions. 

Market-related risks 

Market risk 

Shareholders of the public joint-stock company INVL Baltic Farmland bear the risk of incurring losses due to adverse 
changes in the market price of the shares. The stock price drop may be caused by negative changes in assets value and 
profitability of the company, general stock market trends in the region and the world. Trading of shares of the public 
joint-stock company INVL Baltic Farmland may depend on comments of the brokers and analysts and published 
independent analyzes of the company and its activities. The unfavorable analysts‘ outlook of the shares of the public 
joint-stock company INVL Baltic Farmland may adversely affect the market price of the shares. Non-professional 
investors assessing the shares are advised to seek the assistance of intermediaries of public trading or other experts in 
this field. 

Liquidity risk 

If demand for shares decreases or they are deleted from the stock exchange, investors will face the problem of 
realization of shares. If the financial situation of the public joint-stock company‘s INVL Baltic Farmland deteriorates, the 
demand for company‘s shares may drop, which will lead to fall in share price. 

Dividend payment risk 

Dividend payment to the shareholders of the public joint-stock company INVL Baltic Farmland is not guaranteed and will 
depend on the profitability, investment plans and the overall financial situation of the company. 

Tax and legal risk 

Changes in the equity-related legislation or state tax policy can change shares attractiveness of the public joint-stock 
company INVL Baltic Farmland. This may reduce the liquidity of the shares of the company and/or price. 

Inflation risk 

When inflation increases, the risk, that the stock price change may not offset the current rate of inflation, appears. In 
this case, the real returns from capital gain on market shares for traders may be less than expected. 

16. Significant investments made during the reporting period  

During the reporting period INVL Baltic Farmland, AB has not made any acquisitions.  

 

17. Information about significant agreements to which the issuer is a party, which would come 
into force, be amended or cease to be valid if there was a change in issuer‘s controlling 

shareholder 

There are no significant agreements of the company which would come into force, be amended or cease to be valid if 
there was a change in issuer‘s controlling shareholder. 
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18. Information on the related parties’ transactions 

Information on the related parties’ transactions is disclosed in consolidated interim condenced unaudited financial 
statements’ explanatory notes for 12 months of 2014. 

 

19. Significant events since the end of the financial year 

• On 27 January 2015 the company announced preliminary unaudited results for 12 months of 2014. Unaudited 
consolidated net profit as well as consolidated net profit attributable to shareholders of INVL Baltic Farmland 
amounted to EUR 90.7 thousand (LTL 313 thousand). 

• On 27 January 2015 INVL Baltic Farmland announced that the company initiates the acquisition of own shares 
since 29 January 2015. Share acquisition ends on 26 February 2015. Max number of shares to be acquired: 
16,471. Share acquisition price: EUR 2.86 per share. 

• On 26 February 2015 the company announced about acquisition of 0.02 % of own shares for the total amount 
of EUR 2.03 thousand without brokerage fees. INVL Baltic Farmland, AB could purchase up to 16 471 shares. 
During the share buy-back procedure 710 units of shares were tendered. Share buy-back procedure started 
from 29 January and was implemented through the market of official tender offers of NASDAQ Vilnius stock 
exchange until 26 February. Settlement for the acquired shares will happen on 2nd of March. 

 

20. Estimation of Issuer’s and Group’s activity last year and activity plans and forecasts 

20.1. Evaluation of implementation of goals for 2014 

The year 2014 was favourable for agricultural land companies – both the rental and the land prices increased. The 
portfolio of the owned land was rearranged so than one company manages georgraphically close plots. 

20.2. Activity plans and forecasts 

INVL Baltic Farmland will continue focusing on enhancing the quality of owned land and environmental sustainability 
Taking into consideration the lease agreements total income including land tax should be around 450.3 thousand EUR in 
2015. Net profit for the year is expected to be around EUR 260 thousand. These predictions are based on the 
assumption that there will be no changes in land value and no transactions in 2015. 
At the time of the General Shareholders’ Meeting dividend policy is planned to get approved. The proposed terms are 
that the goal of INVL Farmland is to pay annually at least 0.06 EUR per share dividends. In case of a higher free cash 
flow, decision on the distribution should be taken by the meeting of the Shareholders taking into consideration the need 
of investments and working capital to ensure successful business development. 
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V. OTHER INFORMATION 

 

21. References to and additional explanations of the data presented in the annual financial 
statements and consolidated financial statements 

All data is presented in consolidated and company’s financial statements explanatory notes. 

 

22. Information on audit company 

The company have not approved criteria for selection of the audit company. In the General Shareholders‘ Meeting of the 
company held 23 December 2014 the audit company PricewaterhouseCoopers, UAB was elected to provide audit services 
on annual financial statements of the company for the financial year of 2014. It was decided to set remuneration of LTL 
24 000 (EUR 6 951) plus VAT for the audit of the annual financial statements. 

Audit company PricewaterhouseCoopers, UAB 

Address of the registered office  J. Jasinskio str. 16B, LT-03163 Vilnius, Lithuania 

Enterprise code 111473315 

Telephone +370 5 239 2300 

Fax +370 5 239 2301 

E-mail vilnius@lt.pwc.com 

Website www.pwc.com/lt 
The audit company does not provide any other than audit services to the company. No internal audit is performed in the 
company. 
 

23. Data on the publicly disclosed information 

The information publicly disclosed of INVL Baltic Farmland, AB during 2014 is presented on the company’s website 
www.invlbalticfarmland.lt  

 

Table 23.1. Summary of publicly disclosed information  

Date of 
disclosure 

Brief description of disclosed information 

20.05.2014 Regarding Invalda LT split-off terms to be equivalent to the information of prospectus of INVL Baltic 
Farmland, AB 

30.05.2014 Convocation of the Shareholders Meeting of INVL Baltic Farmland and draft resolutions 

30.05.2014 INVL Baltic Farmland presents managed assets 

13.06.2014 Notification on transaction concluded by manager of the company 

25.06.2014 Resolutions of the Shareholders Meeting of INVL Baltic Farmland, AB 

08.08.2014 Unaudited results of INVL Baltic Farmland for 6 months of 2014 

12.08.2014 On acquisition of own shares 

30.09.2014 INVL Baltic Farmland, AB will buy-back 0.06 % shares 

03.10.2014 Amount of voting rights in INVL Baltic Farmland, AB 

29.10.2014 Unaudited results of INVL Baltic Farmland for 9 months of 2014 

31.10.2014 CORRECTION: Unaudited results of INVL Baltic Farmland for 9 months of 2014 

01.12.2014 Convocation of the Shareholders Meeting of INVL Baltic Farmland and draft resolutions 

09.12.2014 Supplemented agenda of the Shareholders Meeting of INVL Baltic Farmland that is to be held on 23 
December 2014 

23.12.2014 Resolutions of the Shareholders Meeting of INVL Baltic Farmland, AB 

30.12.2014 INVL Baltic Farmland, AB investor‘s calendar for the 2015 

 
 



INVL Baltic Farmland

Table 23.2. Summary of the notifications on sansactions in INVL Baltic Farmland, AB shares concluded by managers of
the Company during 2014.

t2.06.2014

t2.06.2014

Explanauons:
XOFF - OTC trade.
AUTO - automatdred deals on the stoct exchange
Managers of the company and closely related persons;

. Alwdas Banys - Chairman of the Board;

. Indre MiseiMe - Member of the Eoard;

. Darius Sulnis - lilember of the Board, director;. Lucrum Investiciia, UAB - legal entity, related to Darius Sulnis;. UB Investments, IJAB - legal entity, related to Alvydas Banys.

Director 7-'
f //+

Lucrum
sticiia, UAB release of pledge

Darius Sulnis
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APPENDIX 1. INFORMATION ABOUT GROUP COMPANIES, THEIR CONTACT DETAILS 

Company Registration information Type of activity Contact details 

Ekotra, UAB Code 303112623 
Registration address Seimyniskiu 
str. 1A, Vilnius; 
Registration date 01.08.2013 

investments into 
agricultural land. Rent 
of the agricultural land. 
 

Telephone +370 5 279 0601 
Fax +370 5 279 0530 
E-mail 
farmland@invaldalt.com 
 
 

Puskaitis, UAB Code 303112769 
Registration address Seimyniskiu 
str. 1A, Vilnius; 
Legal form – private limited 
liability company;  
Registration date 01.08.2013 

investments into 
agricultural land. Rent 
of the agricultural land. 
 

Telephone +370 5 279 0601 
Fax +370 5 279 0530 
E-mail 
farmland@invaldalt.com 
 

Zemynele, UAB Code 303112559 
Registration address Seimyniskiu 
str. 1A, Vilnius; 
Legal form – private limited 
liability company;  
Registration date 01.08.2013 

investments into 
agricultural land. Rent 
of the agricultural land. 
 

Telephone +370 5 279 0601 
Fax +370 5 279 0530 
E-mail 
farmland@invaldalt.com 
 

Kvietukas, UAB Code 303112678 
Registration address Seimyniskiu 
str. 1A, Vilnius; 
Legal form – private limited 
liability company;  
Registration date 01.08.2013 

investments into 
agricultural land. Rent 
of the agricultural land. 
 

Telephone +370 5 279 0601 
Fax +370 5 279 0530 
E-mail 
farmland@invaldalt.com 
 

Lauknesys, UAB Code 303112655 
Registration address Seimyniskiu 
str. 1A, Vilnius; 
Legal form – private limited 
liability company;  
Registration date 01.08.2013 

investments into 
agricultural land. Rent 
of the agricultural land. 
 

Telephone +370 5 279 0601 
Fax +370 5 279 0530 
E-mail 
farmland@invaldalt.com 
 
 
 

Vasarojus, UAB Code 303004626 
Registration address Seimyniskiu 
str. 1A, Vilnius; 
Legal form – private limited 
liability company;  
Registration date 01.08.2013 

investments into 
agricultural land. Rent 
of the agricultural land. 
 

Telephone +370 5 279 0601 
Fax +370 5 279 0530 
E-mail 
farmland@invaldalt.com 
 
 
 

Laukaitis, UAB Code 303112694 
Registration address Seimyniskiu 
str. 1A, Vilnius; 
Legal form – private limited 
liability company;  
Registration date 01.08.2013 

investments into 
agricultural land. Rent 
of the agricultural land. 
 

Telephone +370 5 279 0601 
Fax +370 5 279 0530 
E-mail 
farmland@invaldalt.com 
 
 
 

Ziemkentys, UAB Code 303112648 
Registration address Seimyniskiu 
str. 1A, Vilnius; 
Legal form – private limited 
liability company;  
Registration date 01.08.2013 

investments into 
agricultural land. Rent 
of the agricultural land. 
 

Telephone +370 5 279 0601 
Fax +370 5 279 0530 
E-mail 
farmland@invaldalt.com 
 
 
 

Zemgale, UAB Code 303112744 
Registration address Seimyniskiu 
str. 1A, Vilnius; 
Legal form – private limited 
liability company;  
Registration date 01.08.2013 

investments into 
agricultural land. Rent 
of the agricultural land. 
 

Telephone +370 5 279 0601 
Fax +370 5 279 0530 
E-mail 
farmland@invaldalt.com 
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Company Registration information Type of activity Contact details 

Avizele, UAB 
 
 
 
 
 

Code 303113077 
Registration address 
Seimyniskiu str. 1A, Vilnius; 
Legal form – private limited 
liability company;  
Registration date 01.08.2013 

investments into 
agricultural land. 
Rent of the 
agricultural land. 
 

Telephone +370 5 279 0601 
Fax +370 5 279 0530 
E-mail 
farmland@invaldalt.com 
 

Berzyte, UAB Code 303112915 
Registration address 
Seimyniskiu str. 1A, Vilnius; 
Legal form – private limited 
liability company;  
Registration date 01.08.2013 

investments into 
agricultural land. 
Rent of the 
agricultural land. 
 

Telephone +370 5 279 0601 
Fax +370 5 279 0530 
E-mail 
farmland@invaldalt.com 
 
 
 
 

Duonis, UAB 
 
 
 

Code 303112790 
Registration address 
Seimyniskiu str. 1A, Vilnius; 
Legal form – private limited 
liability company;  
Registration date 01.08.2013 

investments into 
agricultural land. 
Rent of the 
agricultural land. 
 

Telephone +370 5 279 0601 
Fax +370 5 279 0530 
E-mail 
farmland@invaldalt.com 
 

Pusaitis, UAB  
 
 

Code 3031131032 
Registration address 
Seimyniskiu str. 1A, Vilnius; 
Legal form – private limited 
liability company;  
Registration date 01.08.2013 

investments into 
agricultural land. 
Rent of the 
agricultural land. 

 

Telephone +370 5 279 0601 
Fax +370 5 279 0530 
E-mail 
farmland@invaldalt.com 
 

Zalve, UAB  
 
 

Code 303113045 
Registration address 
Seimyniskiu str. 1A, Vilnius; 
Legal form – private limited 
liability company;  
Registration date 01.08.2013 

investments into 
agricultural land. 
Rent of the 
agricultural land. 
 

Telephone +370 5 279 0601 
Fax +370 5 279 0530 
E-mail 
farmland@invaldalt.com 
 

Seja, UAB  Code 303113013 
Registration address 
Seimyniskiu str. 1A, Vilnius; 
Legal form – private limited 
liability company;  
Registration date 01.08.2013 
 

investments into 
agricultural land. 
Rent of the 
agricultural land. 
 

Telephone +370 5 279 0601 
Fax +370 5 279 0530 
E-mail 
farmland@invaldalt.com 
 

Dirvolika, UAB Code 303112954 
Registration address 
Seimyniskiu str. 1A, Vilnius; 
Legal form – private limited 
liability company;  
Registration date 01.08.2013 

investments into 
agricultural land. 
Rent of the 
agricultural land. 
 

Telephone +370 5 279 0601 
Fax +370 5 279 0530 
E-mail 
farmland@invaldalt.com 
 

Linaziede, UAB  
 

Code 303112922 
Registration address 
Seimyniskiu str. 1A, Vilnius; 
Legal form – private limited 
liability company;  
Registration date 01.08.2013 

investments into 
agricultural land. 
Rent of the 
agricultural land. 
 

Telephone +370 5 279 0601 
Fax +370 5 279 0530 
E-mail 
farmland@invaldalt.com 
 

Cooperor, UAB Code 303252162 
Registration address 
Seimyniskiu str. 1A, Vilnius; 
Legal form – private limited 
liability company;  
Registration date 27.02.2014 

Carries no activity Telephone +370 5 279 0601 
Fax +370 5 279 0530 
E-mail 
farmland@invaldalt.com 
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APPENDIX 2. DISCLOSURE CONCERNING THE COMPLIANCE WITH THE GOVERNANCE CODE 

 

INVL Baltic Farmland, AB, following Article 21 paragraph 3 of the Law on Securities of the Republic of Lithuania and item 
24.5 of the Listing Rules NASDAQ OMX Vilnius, discloses its compliance with the Governance Code, approved by 
NASDAQ OMX Vilnius for the companies listed on the regulated market, and its specific provisions.  

PRINCIPLES/ RECOMMENDATIONS 

YES /  
NO / NOT 

APPLI- 

CABLE 

COMMENTARY 

Principle I: Basic Provisions 

The overriding objective of a Company should be to operate in common interests of all the shareholders 

by optimizing over time shareholder value. 

1.1. A company should adopt and make public the 
company’s development strategy and objectives by 
clearly declaring how the company intends to meet 
the interests of its shareholders and optimize 
shareholder value. 

Yes  The Company constantly discloses information about 
group’s activities and objectives in notifications on 
material event, annual information. 

1.2. All management bodies of a company should 
act in furtherance of the declared strategic 
objectives in view of the need to optimize 
shareholder value. 

Yes The Board’s and the President’s activities are 
concentrated on the fulfillment of the Company’s 
strategic objectives taking count of the shareholders’ 
equity increase. 

1.3. A company’s supervisory and management 
bodies should act in close co-operation in order to 
attain maximum benefit for the company and its 
shareholders. 

Yes The Supervisory Board is not formed. Nevertheless, 
the Board and the President acts in close cooperation 
seeking to obtain the maximum benefit for the 
Company and its shareholders. The Board periodically 
reviews and assesses Company’s activity results. The 
President may conclude the transactions referred to 
in subparagraphs 3, 4, 5 and 6, paragraph 4, Article 
34 of the Law on Companies of the Republic of 
Lithuania, provided that there is a decision of the 
Board to enter into these transactions. 

1.4. A company’s supervisory and management 
bodies should ensure that the rights and interests 
of persons other than the company’s shareholders 
(e.g. employees, creditors, suppliers, clients, local 
community), participating in or connected with the 
company’s operation, are duly respected. 

Yes The Company respects all rights and interests of the 
persons other than the Company’s shareholders 
participating in or connected with the Company’s 
operation.  

Principle II: The corporate governance framework 

The corporate governance framework should ensure the strategic guidance of the Company, the effective 

oversight of the Company’s management bodies, an appropriate balance and distribution of functions 
between the Company’s bodies, protection of the shareholders’ interests. 

2.1. Besides obligatory bodies provided for in the 
Law on Companies of the Republic of Lithuania – a 
General Shareholders’ Meeting and the Chief 
Financial Officer, it is recommended that a 
company should set up both a collegial supervisory 
body and a collegial management body. The 
setting up of collegial bodies for supervision and 
management facilitates clear separation of 
management and supervisory functions in the 
company, accountability and control on the part of 
the Chief Executive Officer, who, in its turn, 
facilitate a more efficient and transparent 
management process. 

No Due to its size, it is not expedient to form the 
Supervisory Board. Considering that only collegial 
management body - the Board is formed in the 
Company. The President of the Company is 
accountable to the Board.  
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2.2. A collegial management body is responsible for 
the strategic management of the company and 
performs other key functions of corporate 
governance. A collegial supervisory body is 
responsible for the effective supervision of the 
company’s management bodies. 

Yes The functions set forth in this recommendation are 
performed by the collegial management body – the 
Board. 

2.3. When a company chooses to form only one 
collegial body, it is recommended that it should be 
a supervisory body, i.e. the Supervisory Board. In 
such a case, the Supervisory Board is responsible 
for the effective monitoring of the functions 
performed by the company’s Chief Financial Officer. 

No Only one collegial body is formed in the Company - 
the Board. It performs all essential management 
functions and ensures accountability and control of 
the Director of the Company. The Supervisory Board 
is not formed in the Company. 

2.4. The collegial supervisory body to be elected by 
the General Shareholders’ Meeting should be set up 
and should act in the manner defined in Principles 
III and IV. Where a company should decide not to 
set up a collegial supervisory body but rather a 
collegial management body, i.e. the Board, 
Principles III and IV should apply to the Board as 
long as that does not contradict the essence and 
purpose of this body. 

Yes The provisions set forth in III and IV principles are 
applied on the Board’s formation and activity as long 
as that does not contradict with the essence and 
purpose of this body. 

2.5. Company’s management and supervisory 
bodies should comprise such number of Board 
(executive directors) and Supervisory (non-
executive directors) Board members that no 
individual or small group of individuals can 
dominate decision-making on the part of these 
bodies. 

Yes There are 3 independent Board members in the 
Company who are seeking benefit to the Company 
and its shareholders.  

2.6. Non-executive directors or members of the 
Supervisory Board should be appointed for 
specified terms subject to individual re-election, at 
maximum intervals provided for in the Lithuanian 
legislation with a view to ensuring necessary 
development of professional experience and 
sufficiently frequent reconfirmation of their status. 
A possibility to remove them should also be 
stipulated however this procedure should not be 
easier than the removal procedure for an executive 
director or a member of the Management Board. 

No The Supervisory Board is not formed in the Company, 
and there are no non–executive directors either. 

2.7. Chairman of the collegial body elected by the 
General Shareholders’ Meeting may be a person 
whose current or past office constitutes no obstacle 
to conduct independent and impartial supervision. 
Where a company should decide not to set up a 
Supervisory Board but rather the Board, it is 
recommended that the chairman of the Board and 
Chief Financial Officer of the company should be a 
different person. Company’s Chief Financial Officer 
should not be immediately nominated as the 
chairman of the collegial body elected by the 
General Shareholders’ Meeting. When a company 
chooses to departure from these recommendations, 
it should furnish information on the measures it has 
taken to ensure impartiality of the supervision. 

Yes The Chairman of the Board is not and has not been 
the manager of the Company. His current or past 
office constitutes has no obstacles to conduct 
independent and impartial supervision. 

Principle III: The order of the formation of a collegial body to be elected by a General Shareholders’ 

Meeting. 

The order of the formation a collegial body to be elected by a General Shareholders’ Meeting should 
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ensure representation of minority shareholders, accountability of this body to the shareholders and 
objective monitoring of the Company’s operation and its management bodies. 

3.1. The mechanism of the formation of a collegial 
body to be elected by a General Shareholders’ 
Meeting (hereinafter in this Principle referred to as 
the ‘collegial body’) should ensure objective and 
fair monitoring of the company’s management 
bodies as well as representation of minority 
shareholders. 

Yes The Board operates impartially, objectively and 
represents the interests of all shareholders equally. 

3.2. Names and surnames of the candidates to 
become members of a collegial body, information 
about their education, qualification, professional 
background, positions taken and potential conflicts 
of interest should be disclosed early enough before 
the General Shareholders’ Meeting so that the 
shareholders would have sufficient time to make an 
informed voting decision. All factors affecting the 
candidate’s independence, the sample list of which 
is set out in Recommendation 3.7, should be also 
disclosed. The collegial body should also be 
informed on any subsequent changes in the 
provided information. The collegial body should, on 
yearly basis, collect data provided in this item on 
its members and disclose this in the company’s 
annual report. 

Yes According to the Board’s rules of procedure, at least 
10 days before the General Shareholders’ Meeting, 
where it is planned to elect Board members 
(member), the information about the candidates to 
the Board will be fully disclosed to the shareholders 
with the indication of the candidates’ names, 
surnames, their membership in supervisory and 
management bodies of other companies, 
shareholding of other companies exceeding 1/20, and 
all other circumstances that can affect the 
independence of the candidate as well as the data on 
their education, qualifications, professional 
experience, other important information. 

The Board members inform the Chairman of the 
Board in case of the changes of the data. The 
information of these changes shall be disclosed to the 
shareholders in the Company’s periodical reports. 

Information about current members of the Board, 
their educational background, qualification, 
professional experience, participation in other 
companies is disclosed in Company’s website.  

3.3. Should a person be nominated for members of 
a collegial body, such nomination should be 
followed by the disclosure of information on 
candidate’s particular competences relevant to 
his/her service on the collegial body. In order 
shareholders and investors are able to ascertain 
whether member’s competence is further relevant, 
the collegial body should, in its annual report, 
disclose the information on its composition and 
particular competences of individual members 
which are relevant to their service on the collegial 
body. 

Yes Information about the composition of the Board, 
members’ education, work experience and 
participation in other companies is disclosed in 
Company’s periodical reports and website.  

3.4. In order to maintain a proper balance in terms 
of the current qualifications possessed by its 
members, the desired composition of the collegial 
body shall be determined  with regard to the 
company’s structure and activities, and have this 
periodically evaluated. The collegial body should 
ensure that it is composed of members who, as a 
whole, have the required diversity of knowledge, 
judgment and experience to complete their tasks 
properly. The members of the Audit Committee, 
collectively, should have a recent knowledge and 
relevant experience in the fields of finance, 
accounting and/or audit for the stock exchange 
listed companies. At least one of the members of 
the Remuneration Committee should have 
knowledge of and experience in the field of 
remuneration policy. 

Yes The company operates in the market less than one 
year. In the future the company will regularly assess 
the composition of the Board with consideration to 
the nature of Company’s activity and structure. The 
Audit Committee members have the required 
experience. The Remuneration Committee is not 
formed. 
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3.5. All new members of the collegial body should 
be offered a tailored program focused on 
introducing a member with his/her duties, 
corporate organization and activities. The collegial 
body should conduct an annual review to identify 
fields where its members need to update their skills 
and knowledge. 

No  Presently, members of the Board do not perform the 
assessment of their skills and knowledge. 

3.6. In order to ensure that all material conflicts of 
interest related with a member of the collegial body 
are resolved properly, the collegial body should 
comprise a sufficient number of independent 
members. 

No Independency of the elected Board members is not 
assessed and the content of independent members’ 
sufficiency isn’t set either. 

3.7. A member of the collegial body should be 
considered to be independent only if he is free of 
any business, family or other relationship with the 
company, its controlling shareholder or the 
management of either, that creates a conflict of 
interest such as to impair his judgment. Since all 
cases when member of the collegial body is likely 
to become dependent are impossible to list, 
moreover, relationships and circumstances 
associated with the determination of independence 
may vary amongst companies and the best 
practices of solving this problem are yet to evolve 
in the course of time, assessment of independence 
of a member of the collegial body should be based 
on the contents of the relationship and 
circumstances rather than their form. The key 
criteria for identifying whether a member of the 
collegial body can be considered to be independent 
are the following: 

1) he/she is not an executive director or member 
of the Board (if a collegial body elected by the 
General Shareholders’ Meeting is the 
Supervisory Board) of the company or any 
associated company and has not been such 
during the last five years; 

2) he/she is not an employee of the company or 
some any company and has not been such 
during the last three years, except for cases 
when a member of the collegial body does not 
belong to the senior management and was 
elected to the collegial body as a 
representative of the employees; 

3) he/she is not receiving or has been not 
receiving significant additional remuneration 
from the company or associated company 
other than remuneration for the office in the 
collegial body. Such additional remuneration 
includes participation in share options or some 
other performance based pay systems; it does 
not include compensation payments for the 
previous office in the company (provided that 
such payment is no way related with later 
position) as per pension plans (inclusive of 
deferred compensations); 

4) he/she is not a controlling shareholder or 
representative of such shareholder (control as 
defined in the Council Directive 83/349/EEC 
Article 1 Part 1); 

No Members of the Board are elected by the General 
Shareholders’ Meeting. They are independent and in 
their actions seek the benefit to the Company and its 
shareholders, however fail to meet the 
recommendation on independency. 
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5) he/she does not have and did not have any 
material business relations with the company 
or associated companies within the past year 
directly or as a partner, shareholder, director 
or superior employee of the subject having 
such relationship. A subject is considered to 
have business relations when it is a major 
supplier or service provider (inclusive of 
financial, legal, counselling and consulting 
services), major client or organization receiving 
significant payments from the company or its 
group; 

6) he/she is not and has not been, during the last 
three years, partner or employee of the current 
or former external audit company of the 
company or associated companies; 

7) he/she is not an executive director or member 
of the Board in some other company where 
executive director of the company or member 
of the Board (if a collegial body elected by the 
General Shareholders’ Meeting is the 
Supervisory Board) is non-executive director or 
member of the Supervisory Board, he/she may 
not also have any other material relationships 
with executive directors of the company that 
arise from their participation in activities of 
other companies or bodies; 

8)  he/she has not been in the position of a 
member of the collegial body for over than 12 
years; 

9) he/she is not a close relative to an executive 
director or member of the Board (if a collegial 
body elected by the General Shareholders’ 
Meeting is the Supervisory Board) or to any 
person listed in above items 1 to 8. Close 
relative is considered to be a spouse (common-
law spouse), children and parents. 

3.8. The determination of what constitutes 
independence is fundamentally an issue for the 
collegial body itself to determine. The collegial 
body may decide that, despite a particular member 
meets all the criteria of independence laid down in 
this Code, he can not be considered independent 
due to special personal or company-related 
circumstances. 

No No Board members’ independency assessment and 
announcement practice is applicable in the Company. 

3.9. Necessary information on conclusions the 
collegial body has come to in its determination of 
whether a particular member of the body should be 
considered to be independent should be disclosed. 
When a person is nominated to become a member 
of the collegial body, the company should disclose 
whether it considers the person to be independent. 
When a particular member of the collegial body 
does not meet one or more criteria of 
independence set out in this Code, the company 
should disclose its reasons for nevertheless 
considering the member to be independent. In 
addition, the company should annually disclose 
which members of the collegial body it considers to 
be independent. 

No No Board members’ independency assessment and 
announcement practice is applicable in the Company. 
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3.10. When one or more criteria of independence 
set out in this Code has not been met throughout 
the year, the company should disclose its reasons 
for considering a particular member of the collegial 
body to be independent. To ensure accuracy of the 
information disclosed in relation with the 
independence of the members of the collegial 
body, the company should require independent 
members to have their independence periodically 
re-confirmed. 

No No Board members’ independency assessment and 
announcement practice is applicable in the Company. 

3.11. In order to remunerate members of a 
collegial body for their work and participation in the 
meetings of the collegial body, they may be 
remunerated from the company’s funds. The 
General Shareholders’ Meeting should approve the 
amount of such remuneration. 

Not 
applicable 

The Board members are not remunerated for their 
work and participation in the meeting of the Board 
from the Company’s funds. 

Principle IV: The duties and liabilities of a collegial body elected by the General Shareholders’ Meeting 

The corporate governance framework should ensure proper and effective functioning of the collegial body 
elected by the General Shareholders’ Meeting, and the powers granted to the collegial body should ensure 

effective monitoring of the Company’s management bodies and protection of interests of all the 
Company’s shareholders. 

4.1. The collegial body elected by the General 
Shareholders’ Meeting (hereinafter in this Principle 
referred to as the ‘collegial body’) should ensure 
integrity and transparency of the company’s 
financial statements and the control system. The 
collegial body should issue recommendations to the 
company’s management bodies and monitor and 
control the company’s management performance. 

Yes The Board submits Company’s annual financial 
statement and consolidated annual financial 
statement, profit distribution drafts to the General 
Shareholders’ Meeting, delivers consolidated annual 
report, also performs all other functions set forth in 
the legal acts of the Republic of Lithuania. 

4.2. Members of the collegial body should act in 
good faith, with care and responsibility for the 
benefit and in the interests of the company and its 
shareholders with due regard to the interests of 
employees and public welfare. Independent 
members of the collegial body should (a) under all 
circumstances maintain independence of their 
analysis, decision-making and actions (b) do not 
seek and accept any unjustified privileges that 
might compromise their independence, and (c) 
clearly express their objections should a member 
consider that decision of the collegial body is 
against the interests of the company. Should a 
collegial body have passed decisions independent 
member has serious doubts about, the member 
should make adequate conclusions. Should an 
independent member resign from his office, he 
should explain the reasons in a letter addressed to 
the collegial body or Audit Committee and, if 
necessary, respective company-not-pertaining body 
(institution). 

Yes According to the information held with the Company, 
all Board members act in good will with respect to 
the Company, are guided by the interests of the 
Company, not by the personal or third parties’ 
interests, and seek to preserve their independency 
while adopting the decisions. 

4.3. Each member should devote sufficient time 
and attention to perform his duties as a member of 
the collegial body. Each member of the collegial 
body should limit other professional obligations of 
his (in particular any directorships held in other 
companies) in such a manner they do not interfere 
with proper performance of duties of a member of 
the collegial body. In the event a member of the 

Yes The Board members perform their functions properly: 
they actively participate in the Board meetings and 
devote sufficient time for the performance of their 
duties as Board members.  
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collegial body should be present in less than a half 
of the meetings of the collegial body throughout 
the financial year of the company, shareholders of 
the company should be notified. 

4.4. Where decisions of a collegial body may have 
a different effect on the company’s shareholders, 
the collegial body should treat all shareholders 
impartially and fairly. It should ensure that 
shareholders are properly informed on the 
company’s affairs, strategies, risk management and 
resolution of conflicts of interest. The company 
should have a clearly established role of members 
of the collegial body when communicating with and 
committing to shareholders. 

Yes The Board treats all shareholders honestly and 
impartially. 

 

4.5. It is recommended that transactions (except 
insignificant ones due to their low value or 
concluded when carrying out routine operations in 
the company under usual conditions), concluded 
between the company and its shareholders, 
members of the supervisory or managing bodies or 
other natural or legal persons that exert or may 
exert influence on the company’s management 
should be subject to approval of the collegial body. 
The decision concerning approval of such 
transactions should be deemed adopted only 
provided the majority of the independent members 
of the collegial body voted for such a decision. 

No There were no significant transactions between the 
Company and its shareholders or management 
bodies. Prior approval of the Board is not required for 
agreements between the Company and the members 
of the management bodies. 

4.6. The collegial body should be independent in 
passing decisions that are significant for the 
company’s operations and strategy. Taken 
separately, the collegial body should be 
independent of the company’s management 
bodies. Members of the collegial body should act 
and pass decisions without an outside influence 
from the persons who have elected it. Companies 
should ensure that the collegial body and its 
committees are provided with sufficient 
administrative and financial resources to discharge 
their duties, including the right to obtain, in 
particular from employees of the company, all the 
necessary information or to seek independent 
legal, accounting or any other advice on issues 
pertaining to the competence of the collegial body 
and its committees. When using the services of a 
consultant with a view to obtaining information on 
market standards for remuneration systems, the 
remuneration committee should ensure that the 
consultant concerned does not at the same time 
advice the human resources department, executive 
directors or collegial management organs of the 
company concerned. 

Yes The Board is independent while adopting decisions 
which are significant for the activity and strategy of 
the Company. 

4.7. Activities of the collegial body should be 
organized in a manner that independent members 
of the collegial body could have major influence in 
relevant areas where chances of occurrence of 
conflicts of interest are very high. Such areas to be 
considered as highly relevant are issues of 
nomination of company’s directors, determination 
of directors’ remuneration and control and 
assessment of the company’s audit. Therefore 

No Due to simplicity of the Company’s management 
structure and small number of employees, it is not 
expedient to form the Nomination and Remuneration 
committees.  
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when the mentioned issues are attributable to the 
competence of the collegial body, it is 
recommended that the collegial body should 
establish Nomination, Remuneration, and Audit 
Committees. Companies should ensure that the 
functions attributable to the Nomination, 
Remuneration, and Audit Committees are carried 
out. However they may decide to merge these 
functions and set up less than three committees. In 
such case a company should explain in detail 
reasons behind the selection of alternative 
approach and how the selected approach complies 
with the objectives set forth for the three different 
committees. Should the collegial body of the 
company comprise small number of members, the 
functions assigned to the three committees may be 
performed by the collegial body itself, provided that 
it meets composition requirements advocated for 
the committees and that adequate information is 
provided in this respect. In such case provisions of 
this Code relating to the committees of the collegial 
body (in particular with respect to their role, 
operation, and transparency) should apply, where 
relevant, to the collegial body as a whole. 

4.8. The key objective of the committees is to 
increase efficiency of the activities of the collegial 
body by ensuring that decisions are based on due 
consideration, and to help organize its work with a 
view to ensuring that the decisions it takes are free 
of material conflicts of interest. Committees should 
exercise independent judgment and integrity when 
exercising its functions as well as present the 
collegial body with recommendations concerning 
the decisions of the collegial body. Nevertheless 
the final decision shall be adopted by the collegial 
body. The recommendation on creation of 
committees is not intended, in principle, to 
constrict the competence of the collegial body or to 
remove the matters considered from the purview of 
the collegial body itself, which remains fully 
responsible for the decisions taken in its field of 
competence. 

4.9. Committees established by the collegial body 
should normally be composed of at least three 
members. In companies with small number of 
members of the collegial body, they could 
exceptionally be composed of two members. 
Majority of the members of each committee should 
be constituted from independent members of the 
collegial body. In cases when the Company 
chooses not to set up a Supervisory Board, 
Remuneration and Audit Committees should be 
entirely comprised of non-executive directors. 
Chairmanship and membership of the committees 
should be decided with due regard to the need to 
ensure that committee membership is refreshed 
and that undue reliance is not placed on particular 
individuals. 

4.10. Authority of each of the committees should 
be determined by the collegial body. Committees 
should perform their duties in line with authority 
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delegated to them and inform the collegial body on 
their activities and performance on regular basis. 
Authority of every committee stipulating the role 
and rights and duties of the committee should be 
made public at least once a year (as part of the 
information disclosed by the company annually on 
its corporate governance structures and practices). 
Companies should also make public annually a 
statement by existing committees on their 
composition, number of meetings and attendance 
over the year, and their main activities. Audit 
Committee should confirm that it is satisfied with 
the independence of the audit process and describe 
briefly the actions it has taken to reach this 
conclusion. 

4.11. In order to ensure independence and 
impartiality of the committees, members of the 
collegial body that are not members of the 
committee should commonly have a right to 
participate in the meetings of the committee only if 
invited by the committee. A committee may invite 
or demand participation in the meeting of particular 
officers or experts. Chairman of each of the 
committees should have a possibility to maintain 
direct communication with the shareholders. Events 
when such are to be performed should be specified 
in the regulations for committee activities. 

4.12. Nomination Committee. 

4.12.1. Key functions of the Nomination Committee 
should be the following: 

1) identify and recommend, for the approval of the 
collegial body, candidates to fill Board vacancies. 
The Nomination Committee should evaluate the 
balance of skills, knowledge and experience on the 
management body, prepare a description of the 
roles and capabilities required to assume a 
particular office, and assess the time commitment 
expected. Nomination Committee can also consider 
candidates to members of the collegial body 
delegated by the shareholders of the company; 

2) assess on regular basis the structure, size, 
composition and performance of the supervisory 
and management bodies, and make 
recommendations to the collegial body regarding 
the means of achieving necessary changes; 

3) assess on regular basis the skills, knowledge and 
experience of individual directors and report on this 
to the collegial body; 

4) properly consider issues related to succession 
planning; 

5) review the policy of the management bodies for 
selection and appointment of senior management. 

4.12.2. Nomination Committee should consider 
proposals by other parties, including management 
and shareholders. When dealing with issues related 
to executive directors or members of the Board (if 
a collegial body elected by the General 
Shareholders’ Meeting is the Supervisory Board) 
and senior management, Chief Financial Officer of 
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the company should be consulted by, and entitled 
to submit proposals to the Nomination Committee. 

4.13. Remuneration Committee. 

4.13.1. Key functions of the Remuneration 
Committee should be the following: 

1) make proposals, for the approval of the collegial 
body, on the remuneration policy for members of 
management bodies and executive directors. Such 
policy should address all forms of compensation, 
including the fixed remuneration, performance-
based remuneration schemes, pension 
arrangements, and termination payments. 
Proposals considering performance-based 
remuneration schemes should be accompanied 
with recommendations on the related objectives 
and evaluation criteria, with a view to properly 
aligning the pay of executive director and members 
of the management bodies with the long-term 
interests of the shareholders and the objectives set 
by the collegial body; 

2) make proposals to the collegial body on the 
individual remuneration for executive directors and 
member of management bodies in order their 
remunerations are consistent with company’s 
remuneration policy and the evaluation of the 
performance of these persons concerned. In doing 
so, the Committee should be properly informed on 
the total compensation obtained by executive 
directors and members of the management bodies 
from the affiliated companies; 

3) ensure that remuneration of individual executive 
directors or members of management body is 
proportionate to the remuneration of other 
executive directors or members of management 
body and other staff members of the company;  

4) periodically review the remuneration policy for 
executive directors or members of management 
body, including the policy regarding share-based 
remuneration, and its implementation; 

5) make proposals to the collegial body on suitable 
forms of contracts for executive directors and 
members of the management bodies; 

6) assist the collegial body in overseeing how the 
company complies with applicable provisions 
regarding the remuneration-related information 
disclosure (in particular the remuneration policy 
applied and individual remuneration of directors); 

7) make general recommendations to the executive 
directors and members of the management bodies 
on the level and structure of remuneration for 
senior management (as defined by the collegial 
body) with regard to the respective information 
provided by the executive directors and members 
of the management bodies. 

4.13.2. With respect to stock options and other 
share-based incentives which may be granted to 
directors or other employees, the Committee 
should: 

1) consider general policy regarding the granting of 
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the above mentioned schemes, in particular stock 
options, and make any related proposals to the 
collegial body; 

2) examine the related information that is given in 
the company’s annual report and documents 
intended for the use during the General 
Shareholders’ Meeting; 

3) make proposals to the collegial body regarding 
the choice between granting options to subscribe 
shares or granting options to purchase shares, 
specifying the reasons for its choice as well as the 
consequences that this choice has. 

4.13.3. Upon resolution of the issues attributable to 
the competence of the Remuneration Committee, 
the Committee should at least address the 
chairman of the collegial body and/or Chief 
Financial Officer of the company for their opinion 
on the remuneration of other executive directors or 
members of the management bodies. 

4.13.4. The Remuneration Committee should report 
on the exercise of its functions to the shareholders 
and be present at the Annual General Shareholders’ 
Meeting for this purpose. 

4.14. Audit Committee. 

4.14.1. Key functions of the Audit Committee 
should be the following: 

1) observe the integrity of the financial information 
provided by the company, in particular by 
reviewing the relevance and consistency of the 
accounting methods used by the company and its 
group (including the criteria for the consolidation of 
the accounts of companies in the group); 

2) at least once a year review the systems of 
internal control and risk management to ensure 
that the key risks (inclusive of the risks in relation 
with compliance with existing laws and regulations) 
are properly identified, managed and reflected in 
the information provided; 

3) ensure the efficiency of the internal audit 
function, among other things, by making 
recommendations on the selection, appointment, 
reappointment and removal of the head of the 
internal audit department and on the budget of the 
department, and by monitoring the responsiveness 
of the management to its findings and 
recommendations. Should there be no internal 
audit authority in the company, the need for one 
should be reviewed at least annually; 

4) make recommendations to the collegial body 
related with selection, appointment, reappointment 
and removal of the external auditor (to be done by 
the General Shareholders’ Meeting) and with the 
terms and conditions of his engagement. The 
Committee should investigate situations that lead 
to a resignation of the audit company or auditor 
and make recommendations on required actions in 
such situations; 

5) monitor independence and impartiality of the 
external auditor, in particular by reviewing the 

Yes The members of the Audit Committee are elected by 
the General Shareholders’ Meeting. The main 
functions of the Audit Committee should be the 
following: 

- provide recommendations with selection, 
appointment, reappointment and removal of an 
external Audit Company as well as the terms and 
conditions of engagement with the Audit Company; 

- monitor the process of external audit; 

- monitor how the external auditor and Audit 
Company follow the principles of independence and 
objectivity; 

- observe the process of preparation of financial 
reports of the Company; 

- monitor the efficiency of the internal control and 
risk management systems of the Company. Once a 
year review the need of the internal audit function; 

− monitor the implementation of the 
audit firm's recommendations and comments 
imposed by the Board and the manager of the 
company. 

 

In conducting of the mentioned above functions, the 
Audit committee supervises the process of 
preparation of annual accounts and gives 
recommendations to the Board on provision of the 
annual accounts for the approval of the shareholders.  

Furthermore, the Audit commitee analizes the 
independance and other criterias of the potential 
auditors and gives the necessary conclusions to the 
management. 

The Audit committee prepares activity report on the 
main conclusions regarding Company’s activity.   
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audit company’s compliance with applicable 
guidance relating to the rotation of audit partners, 
the level of fees paid by the company, and similar 
issues. In order to prevent occurrence of material 
conflicts of interest, the Committee, based on the 
auditor’s disclosed inter alia data on all 
remunerations paid by the company to the auditor 
and network, should at all times monitor nature 
and extent of the non-audit services. Having regard 
to the principals and guidelines established in the  
May 16, 2002 Commission Recommendation 
2002/590/EC, the Committee should determine and 
apply a formal policy establishing types of non-
audit services that are (a) excluded, (b) permissible 
only after review by the Committee, and (c) 
permissible without referral to the Committee; 

6) review efficiency of the external audit process 
and responsiveness of management to 
recommendations made in the external auditor’s 
management letter. 

4.14.2. All members of the Committee should be 
furnished with complete information on particulars 
of accounting, financial and other operations of the 
company. Company’s management should inform 
the Audit Committee of the methods used to 
account for significant and unusual transactions 
where the accounting treatment may be open to 
different approaches. In such case a special 
consideration should be given to company’s 
operations in offshore centers and/or activities 
carried out through special purpose vehicles 
(organizations) and justification of such operations. 

4.14.3. The Audit Committee should decide 
whether participation of the chairman of the 
collegial body, Chief Financial Officer (or superior 
employees in charge of finances, treasury and 
accounting), or internal and external auditors in the 
meetings of the Committee is required (if required, 
when). The Committee should be entitled, when 
needed, to meet with any relevant person without 
executive directors and members of the 
management bodies present. 

4.14.4. Internal and external auditors should be 
secured with not only effective working relationship 
with management, but also with free access to the 
collegial body. For this purpose the Audit 
Committee should act as the principal contact 
person for the internal and external auditors. 

4.14.5. The Audit Committee should be informed of 
the internal auditor’s work program, and should be 
furnished with internal audit’s reports or periodic 
summaries. The Audit Committee should also be 
informed of the work program of the external 
auditor and should be furnished with report 
disclosing all relationships between the 
independent auditor and the company and its 
group. The Committee should be timely furnished 
information on all issues arising from the audit. 

4.14.6. The Audit Committee should examine 
whether the company is following applicable 
provisions regarding the possibility for employees 
to report alleged significant irregularities in the 
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company, by way of complaints or through 
anonymous submissions (normally to an 
independent member of the collegial body), and 
should ensure that there is a procedure established 
for proportionate and independent investigation of 
these issues and for appropriate follow-up action. 

4.14.7. The Audit Committee should report on its 
activities to the collegial body at least once in every 
six months, at the time the yearly and half-yearly 
statements are approved. 

4.15. Every year the collegial body should conduct 
the assessment of its activities. The assessment 
should include evaluation of collegial body’s 
structure, work organization and ability to act as a 
group, evaluation of each of the collegial body 
member’s and Committee’s competence and work 
efficiency and assessment whether the collegial 
body has achieved its objectives. The collegial body 
should, at least once a year, make public (as part 
of the information the company annually discloses 
on its management structures and practices) 
respective information on its internal organization 
and working procedures, and specify what material 
changes were made as a result of the assessment 
of the collegial body of its own activities. 

No Considering the fact that the company started its 
activity on 29 April 2014, the Board has not 
performed its evaluation. 

During the year 2014 the Board analyzed available 
information, discussed and adopted decisions 
concerning essential matters of INVL Baltic Farmland, 
AB and its group.   

 

Principle V: The working procedure of the Company’s collegial bodies. 

The working procedure of supervisory and management bodies established in the Company should ensure 

efficient operation of these bodies and decision-making and encourage active co-operation between the 
Company’s bodies. 

5.1. The company’s supervisory and management 
bodies (hereinafter in this Principle the concept 
‘collegial bodies’ covers both the collegial bodies of 
supervision and the collegial bodies of 
management) should be chaired by chairpersons of 
these bodies. The chairperson of a collegial body is 
responsible for proper convocation of the collegial 
body meetings. The chairperson should ensure that 
information about the meeting being convened and 
its agenda are communicated to all members of the 
body. The chairperson of a collegial body should 
ensure appropriate conducting of the meetings of 
the collegial body. The chairperson should ensure 
order and working atmosphere during the meeting. 

Yes The activity of the Board is chaired by the chairman 
who is also resposible for convocation of the 
meetings as well as preparation of the agenda. 
Frequency of the meetings and questions of the 
agenda depend on the particular events or projects 
or they are related with ordinary functions of the 
Board prescribed by legal acts.    

5.2. It is recommended that meetings of the 
company’s collegial bodies should be carried out 
according to the schedule approved in advance at 
certain intervals of time. Each company is free to 
decide how often to convene meetings of the 
collegial bodies, but it is recommended that these 
meetings should be convened at such intervals, 
which would guarantee an interrupted resolution of 
the essential corporate governance issues. 
Meetings of the company’s Supervisory Board 
should be convened at least once in a quarter, and 
the company’s Board should meet at least once a 
month6. 

Yes The Board meetings are held at least once per 
quarter.   

                                                      
6 The frequency of meetings of the collegial body provided for in the recommendation must be applied in those cases when both additional collegial bodies 
are formed at the company, the board and the supervisory board. In the event only one additional collegial body is formed in the company, the frequency of 
its meetings may be as established for the supervisory board, i.e. at least once in a quarter. 
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5.3. Members of a collegial body should be notified 
about the meeting being convened in advance in 
order to allow sufficient time for proper preparation 
for the issues on the agenda of the meeting and to 
ensure fruitful discussion and adoption of 
appropriate decisions. Alongside with the notice 
about the meeting being convened, all the 
documents relevant to the issues on the agenda of 
the meeting should be submitted to the members 
of the collegial body. The agenda of the meeting 
should not be changed or supplemented during the 
meeting, unless all members of the collegial body 
are present or certain issues of great importance to 
the company require immediate resolution. 

Yes The Board meetings are being convened by the 
Chairman. The Chairman of the Board informs 
members about the meeting by phone or by email. 

5.4. In order to co-ordinate operation of the 
company’s collegial bodies and ensure effective 
decision-making process, chairpersons of the 
company’s collegial bodies of supervision and 
management should closely co-operate by co-
coordinating dates of the meetings, their agendas 
and resolving other issues of corporate 
governance. Members of the company’s Board 
should be free to attend meetings of the company’s 
Supervisory Board, especially where issues 
concerning removal of the Board members, their 
liability or remuneration are discussed. 

No The Company may not implement this 
recommendation since only the Board is formed. 

Principle VI: The equitable treatment of shareholders and shareholder rights. 

The corporate governance framework should ensure the equitable treatment of all shareholders, including 
minority and foreign shareholders. The corporate governance framework should protect the rights of the 

shareholders. 

6.1. It is recommended that the company’s capital 
should consist only of the shares that grant the 
same rights to voting, ownership, dividend and 
other rights to all their holders. 

Yes Shares which compose the authorised capital of the 
Company grant equal rights to all shareholders. 

6.2. It is recommended that investors should have 
access to the information concerning the rights 
attached to the shares of the new issue or those 
issued earlier in advance, i.e. before they purchase 
shares. 

Yes The Company informs shareholders about the rights 
of newly issued shares. 

Information about the rights of already issued shares 
is provided in the Shareholders’ Policy approved by 
the Board, the Articles of the Association, Company’s 
annual report. 

6.3. Transactions that are important to the 
company and its shareholders, such as transfer, 
investment, and pledge of the company’s assets or 
any other type of encumbrance should be subject 
to approval of the General Shareholders’ Meeting. 
All shareholders should be furnished with equal 
opportunity to familiarize with and participate in 
the decision-making process when significant 
corporate issues, including approval of transactions 
referred to above, are discussed. 

Yes Shareholders of the Company have equal 
opportunities to get familiarised and participate in 
adopting decisions important to the Company. 
Approval of the General Shareholders’ Meeting is also 
necessary in cases stipulated in Chapter V of the Law 
on Companies of the Republic of Lithuania. No other 
cases when the approval of the General 
Shareholders’ Meeting should be obtained are 
foreseen, since it would impair Company’s business 
considering the nature of the Company’s activity. 

6.4. Procedures of convening and conducting a 
General Shareholders’ Meeting should ensure equal 
opportunities for the shareholders to effectively 
participate at the meetings and should not 
prejudice the rights and interests of the 
shareholders. The venue, date, and time of the 
shareholders’ meeting should not hinder wide 

Yes The procedures of convening and conducting of the 
General Shareholders’ Meeting comply with the 
provisions of legal acts and provide the shareholders 
with equal opportunities to participate in the 
meetings get familiarised with the draft resolutions 
and materials necessary for adopting the decision in 
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attendance of the shareholders. Prior to the 
shareholders’ meeting, the Company’s supervisory 
and management bodies should enable the 
shareholders to lodge questions on issues on the 
agenda of the General Share-holders’ Meeting and 
receive answers to them. 

advance, also give questions to the Board members. 

6.5. If is possible, in order to ensure shareholders 
living abroad the right to access to the information, 
it is recommended that documents on the course 
of the General Shareholders’ Meeting, should be 
placed on the publicly accessible website of the 
company not only in Lithuanian language, but in 
English and /or other foreign languages in advance. 
It is recommended that the minutes of the General 
Shareholders’ Meeting after signing them and/or 
adopted resolutions should be also placed on the 
publicly accessible website of the company. 
Seeking to ensure the right of foreigners to 
familiarize with the information, whenever feasible, 
documents referred to in this recommendation 
should be published in Lithuanian, English and/or 
other foreign languages. Documents referred to in 
this recommendation may be published on the 
publicly accessible website of the company to the 
extent that publishing of these documents is not 
detrimental to the company or the company’s 
commercial secrets are not revealed. 

Yes The information about General Shareholders’ 
Meetings are published in Lithuanian and English on 
the Company’s website.  

 

6.6. Shareholders should be furnished with the 
opportunity to vote in the General Shareholders’ 
Meeting in person and in absentia. Shareholders 
should not be prevented from voting in writing in 
advance by completing the general voting ballot. 

Yes The Company’s shareholders are furnished with the 
opportunity to participate in the General 
Shareholders’ Meeting both personally and via an 
attorney, if such a person has a proper authorisation 
or if an agreement on the transfer of voting rights 
was concluded in the manner set forth in the legal 
acts. The Company provides the shareholders with 
conditions to vote by completing the general voting 
ballot. 

6.7. With a view to increasing the shareholders’ 
opportunities to participate effectively at General 
Shareholders’ Meetings, the companies are 
recommended to expand use of modern 
technologies by allowing the shareholders to 
participate and vote in General Shareholders’ 
Meetings via electronic means of communication. 
In such cases security of transmitted information 
and a possibility to identify the identity of the 
participating and voting person should be 
guaranteed. Moreover, companies could furnish its 
shareholders, especially shareholders living abroad, 
with the opportunity to watch shareholder 
meetings by means of modern technologies. 

No Shareholders can vote via an attorney or by 
completing the general voting ballot but for the 
meantime shareholders can not participate and vote 
in General Shareholders’ Meetings via electronic 
means of communication. 

Principle VII: The avoidance of conflicts of interest and their disclosure 

The corporate governance framework should encourage members of the corporate bodies to avoid 

conflicts of interest and assure transparent and effective mechanism of disclosure of conflicts of interest 
regarding members of the corporate bodies. 

7.1. Any member of the company’s supervisory and 
management body should avoid a situation, in 
which his/her personal interests are in conflict or 
may be in conflict with the company’s interests. In 
case such a situation did occur, a member of the 

Yes The Board members fully comply with these 
recommendations. 
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company’s supervisory and management body 
should, within reasonable time, inform other 
members of the same collegial body or the 
company’s body that has elected him/her, or to the 
company’s shareholders about a situation of a 
conflict of interest, indicate the nature of the 
conflict and value, where possible. 

7.2. Any member of the company’s supervisory and 
management body may not mix the company’s 
assets, the use of which has not been mutually 
agreed upon, with his/her personal assets or use 
them or the information which he/she learns by 
virtue of his/her position as a member of a 
corporate body for his/her personal benefit or for 
the benefit of any third person without a prior 
agreement of the General Shareholders’ Meeting or 
any other corporate body authorised by the 
meeting. 

7.3. Any member of the company’s supervisory and 
management body may conclude a transaction with 
the company, a member of a corporate body of 
which he/she is. Such a transaction (except 
insignificant ones due to their low value or 
concluded when carrying out routine operations in 
the company under usual conditions) must be 
immediately reported in writing or orally, by 
recording this in the minutes of the meeting, to 
other members of the same corporate body or to 
the corporate body that has elected him/her or to 
the company’s shareholders. Transactions specified 
in this recommendation are also subject to 
recommendation 4.5. 

7.4. Any member of the company’s supervisory and 
management body should abstain from voting 
when decisions concerning transactions or other 
issues of personal or business interest are voted 
on. 

Principle VIII: Company’s remuneration policy 

Remuneration policy and procedure for approval, revision and disclosure of directors’ remuneration 

established in the Company should prevent potential conflicts of interest and abuse in determining 
remuneration of directors, in addition it should ensure publicity and transparency both of Company’s 

remuneration policy and remuneration of directors. 

8.1. A Company should make a public statement of 
the company’s remuneration policy (hereinafter the 
remuneration statement) which should be clear and 
easily understandable. This remuneration 
statement should be published as a part of the 
company’s annual statement as well as posted on 
the company’s website.  

No The Company does not prepare a remuneration 
policy since the majority of VIII principle items are 
not relevant for the present structure of the 
Company. 

Information about the benefits and loans for the 
members of the management bodies is provided in 
the periodical reports, financial statements. 

8.2. Remuneration statement should mainly focus 
on directors’ remuneration policy for the following 
year and, if appropriate, the subsequent years. The 
statement should contain a summary of the 
implementation of the remuneration policy in the 
previous financial year. Special attention should be 
given to any significant changes in company’s 
remuneration policy as compared to the previous 
financial year. 
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8.3. Remuneration statement should leastwise 
include the following information: 

1) explanation of the relative importance of the 
variable and non-variable components of directors’ 
remuneration; 

2) sufficient information on performance criteria 
that entitles directors to share options, shares or 
variable components of remuneration; 

3) an explanation how the choice of performance 
criteria contributes to the long-term interests of the 
company; 

4) an explanation of the methods, applied in order 
to determine whether performance criteria have 
been fulfilled; 

5) sufficient information on deferment periods with 
regard to variable components of remuneration; 

6) sufficient information on the linkage between 
the remuneration and performance; 

7) the main parameters and rationale for any 
annual bonus scheme and any other non-cash 
benefits; 

8) sufficient information on the policy regarding 
termination payments; 

9) sufficient information with regard to vesting 
periods for share-based remuneration, as referred 
to in point 8.13 of this Code; 

10) sufficient information on the policy regarding 
retention of shares after vesting, as referred to in 
point 8.15 of this Code; 

11) sufficient information on the composition of 
peer groups of companies the remuneration policy 
of which has been examined in relation to the 
establishment of the remuneration policy of the 
company concerned; 

12) a description of the main characteristics of 
supplementary pension or early retirement 
schemes for directors; 

13) remuneration statement should not include 
commercially sensitive information. 

8.4. Remuneration statement should also 
summarize and explain company’s policy regarding 
the terms of the contracts executed with executive 
directors and members of the management bodies. 
It should include, inter alia, information on the 
duration of contracts with executive directors and 
members of the management bodies, the 
applicable notice periods and details of provisions 
for termination payments linked to early 
termination under contracts for executive directors 
and members of the management bodies. 

8.5. Remuneration statement should also contain 
detailed information on the entire amount of 
remuneration, inclusive of other benefits, that was 
paid to individual directors over the relevant 
financial year. This document should list at least 
the information set out in items 8.5.1 to 8.5.4 for 
each person who has served as a director of the 
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company at any time during the relevant financial 
year. 

8.5.1. The following remuneration and/or 
emoluments-related information should be 
disclosed: 

- the total amount of remuneration paid or due to 
the director for services performed during the 
relevant financial year, inclusive of, where relevant, 
attendance fees fixed by the Annual General 
Shareholders’ Meeting; 

- the remuneration and advantages received from 
any undertaking belonging to the same group; 

- the remuneration paid in the form of profit sharing 
and/or bonus payments and the reasons why such 
bonus payments and/or profit sharing were 
granted; 

- if permissible by the law, any significant additional 
remuneration paid to directors for special services 
outside the scope of the usual functions of a 
director; 

- compensation receivable or paid to each former 
executive director or member of the management 
body as a result of his resignation from the office 
during the previous financial year; 

- total estimated value of non-cash benefits 
considered as remuneration, other than the items 
covered in the above points. 

8.5.2. As regards shares and/or rights to acquire 
share options and/or all other share-incentive 
schemes, the following information should be 
disclosed: 

- the number of share options offered or shares 
granted by the company during the relevant 
financial year and their conditions of application; 

- the number of shares options exercised during 
the relevant financial year and, for each of them, 
the number of shares involved and the exercise 
price or the value of the interest in the share 
incentive scheme at the end of the financial year; 

- the number of share options unexercised at the 
end of the financial year; their exercise price, the 
exercise date and the main conditions for the 
exercise of the rights; 

- all changes in the terms and conditions of 
existing share options occurring during the 
financial year. 

8.5.3. The following supplementary pension 
schemes-related information should be disclosed: 

- when the pension scheme is a defined-benefit 
scheme, changes in the directors’ accrued benefits 
under that scheme during the relevant financial 
year; 

- when the pension scheme is defined-contribution 
scheme, detailed information on contributions paid 
or payable by the company in respect of that 
director during the relevant financial year. 

8.5.4. The statement should also state amounts 
that the company or any subsidiary company or 
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entity included in the consolidated annual financial 
report of the company has paid to each person 
who has served as a director in the company at 
any time during the relevant financial year in the 
form of loans, advance payments or guarantees, 
including the amount outstanding and the interest 
rate. 

8.6. Where the remuneration policy includes 
variable components of remuneration, companies 
should set limits on the variable component(s). The 
non-variable component of remuneration should be 
sufficient to allow the company to withhold variable 
components of remuneration when performance 
criteria are not met.  

8.7. Award of variable components of remuneration 
should be subject to predetermined and 
measurable performance criteria. 

8.8. Where a variable component of remuneration 
is awarded, a major part of the variable component 
should be deferred for a minimum period of time. 
The part of the variable component subject to 
deferment should be determined in relation to the 
relative weight of the variable component 
compared to the non-variable component of 
remuneration. 

8.9. Contractual arrangements with executive or 
managing directors should include provisions that 
permit the company to reclaim variable 
components of remuneration that were awarded on 
the basis of data which subsequently proved to be 
manifestly misstated.  

8.10. Termination payments should not exceed a 
fixed amount or fixed number of years of annual 
remuneration, which should, in general, not be 
higher than two years of the non-variable 
component of remuneration or the equivalent 
thereof. 

8.11. Termination payments should not be paid if 
the termination is due to inadequate performance.  

8.12. The information on preparatory and decision-
making processes, during which a policy of 
remuneration of directors is being established, 
should also be disclosed. Information should 
include data, if applicable, on authorities and 
composition of the remuneration committee, 
names and surnames of external consultants 
whose services have been used in determination of 
the remuneration policy as well as the role of 
Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting. 

8.13. Shares should not vest for at least three 
years after their award. 

8.14. Share options or any other right to acquire 
shares or to be remunerated on the basis of share 
price movements should not be exercisable for at 
least three years after their award. Vesting of 
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shares and the right to exercise share options or 
any other right to acquire shares or to be 
remunerated on the basis of share price 
movements, should be subject to predetermined 
and measurable performance criteria. 

8.15. After vesting, directors should retain a 
number of shares, until the end of their mandate, 
subject to the need to finance any costs related to 
acquisition of the shares. The number of shares to 
be retained should be fixed, for example, twice the 
value of total annual remuneration (the non-
variable plus the variable components). 

8.16. Remuneration of non-executive or 
supervisory directors should not include share 
options. 

8.17. Shareholders, in particular institutional 
shareholders, should be encouraged to attend 
General Shareholders’ Meetings where appropriate 
and make considered use of their votes regarding 
directors’ remuneration. 

8.18. Without prejudice to the role and 
organization of the relevant bodies responsible for 
setting directors’ remunerations, the remuneration 
policy or any other significant change in 
remuneration policy should be included into the 
agenda of the Annual General Shareholders’ 
Meeting. Remuneration statement should be put 
for voting in Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting. 
The vote may be either mandatory or advisory. 

8.19. Schemes anticipating remuneration of 
directors in shares, share options or any other right 
to purchase shares or be remunerated on the basis 
of share price movements should be subject to the 
prior approval of Annual General Shareholders’ 
Meeting by way of a resolution prior to their 
adoption. The approval of scheme should be 
related with the scheme itself and not to the grant 
of such share-based benefits under that scheme to 
individual directors. All significant changes in 
scheme provisions should also be subject to 
shareholders’ approval prior to their adoption; the 
approval decision should be made in Annual 
General Shareholders’ Meeting. In such case 
shareholders should be notified on all terms of 
suggested changes and get an explanation on the 
impact of the suggested changes. 

Not 
applicable 

In 2014 the schemes, on which basis the managers 
were remunerated in shares, share selection 
transactions or other rights to acquire the shares or 
be remunerated based on the share price movements 
were not applied in the Company. 

8.20. The following issues should be subject to 
approval by the Annual General Shareholders’ 
Meeting: 

1) grant of share-based schemes, including share 
options, to directors; 

2) determination of maximum number of shares 
and main conditions of share granting; 

3) the term within which options can be exercised; 

4) the conditions for any subsequent change in the 
exercise of the options, if permissible by law; 

5) all other long-term incentive schemes for which 
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directors are eligible and which are not available to 
other employees of the company under similar 
terms. Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting 
should also set the deadline within which the body 
responsible for remuneration of directors may 
award compensations listed in this article to 
individual directors. 

8.21. Should national law or company’s Articles of 
Association allow, any discounted option 
arrangement under which any rights are granted to 
subscribe the shares at a price lower than the 
market value of the share prevailing on the day of 
the price determination, or the average of the 
market values over a number of days preceding the 
date when the exercise price is determined, should 
also be subject to the shareholders’ approval. 

 

8.22. Provisions of Articles 8.19 and 8.20 should 
not be applicable to schemes allowing for 
participation under similar conditions to company’s 
employees or employees of any subsidiary 
company whose employees are eligible to 
participate in the scheme and which has been 
approved in the Annual General Shareholders’ 
Meeting. 

8.23. Prior to the Annual General Shareholders’ 
Meeting that is intended to consider decision 
stipulated in Article 8.8, the shareholders must be 
provided an opportunity to familiarize with draft 
resolution and project-related notice (the 
documents should be posted on the company’s 
website). The notice should contain the full text of 
the share-based remuneration schemes or a 
description of their key terms, as well as full names 
of the participants in the schemes. Notice should 
also specify the relationship of the schemes and 
the overall remuneration policy of the directors. 
Draft resolution must have a clear reference to the 
scheme itself or to the summary of its key terms. 
Shareholders must also be presented with 
information on how the company intends to 
provide for the shares required to meet its 
obligations under incentive schemes. It should be 
clearly stated whether the company intends to buy 
shares in the market, hold the shares in reserve or 
issue new ones. There should also be a summary 
on scheme-related expenses the company will 
suffer due to the anticipated application of the 
scheme. All information given in this article must 
be posted on the company’s website. 

Principle IX: The role of stakeholders in corporate governance 

The corporate governance framework should recognize the rights of stakeholders as established by law 
and encourage active co-operation between companies and stakeholders in creating the Company value, 

jobs and financial sustainability. For the purposes of this Principle, the concept “stakeholders” includes 

investors, employees, creditors, suppliers, clients, local community and other persons having certain 
interest in the Company concerned. 

9.1. The corporate governance framework should 
assure that the rights of stakeholders that are 
protected by law are respected. 

Yes The Company respects the rights of interest holders 
and allows the interest holders to participate in the 
management of the Company in the manner set forth 
by the laws. The detailed information about planned 

9.2. The corporate governance framework should 
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create conditions for the stakeholders to participate 
in corporate governance in the manner prescribed 
by law. Examples of mechanisms of stakeholder 
participation in corporate governance include: 
employee participation in adoption of certain key 
decisions for the company; consulting the 
employees on corporate governance and other 
important issues; employee participation in the 
company’s share capital; creditor involvement in 
governance in the context of the company’s 
insolvency, etc. 

events has been constantly discosed in line with 
reuirements of legal acts; therefore, the investors 
(shareholders) have enough opportunities to 
familiarize with necessary information as well as vote 
on decisions. More detailed explanation about 
disclosure procedure is provided below in the part 10.  

9.3. Where stakeholders participate in the 
corporate governance process, they should have 
access to relevant information. 

Principle X: Information disclosure and transparency 

The corporate governance framework should ensure that timely and accurate disclosure is made on all 

material information regarding the Company, including the financial situation, performance and 

governance of the Company. 

10.1. The company should disclose information on: 

1) the financial and operating results of the 
company; 

2) company objectives; 

3) persons holding by the right of ownership or in 
control of a block of shares in the company; 

4) members of the company’s supervisory and 
management bodies, Chief Financial Officer of the 
company and their remuneration; 

5) material foreseeable risk factors; 

6) transactions between the company and 
connected persons, as well as transactions 
concluded outside the course of the company’s 
regular operations; 

7) material issues regarding employees and other 
stakeholders; 

8) governance structures and strategy. 

This list should be deemed as a minimum 
recommendation, while the companies are 
encouraged not to limit themselves to disclosure of 
the information specified in this list. 

Yes Information set forth in this recommendation is 
disclosed in the notifications on material event, 
periodical reports. This information is also published 
on Company’s website. 

10.2. It is recommended to the company, which is 
the parent of other companies, that consolidated 
results of the whole group to which the Company 
belongs should be disclosed when information 
specified in item 1 of Recommendation 10.1 is 
under disclosure. 

10.3. It is recommended that information on the 
professional background, qualifications of the 
members of supervisory and management bodies, 
Chief Financial Officer of the company should be 
disclosed as well as potential conflicts of interest 
that may have an effect on their decisions when 
information specified in item 4 of Recommendation 
10.1 about the members of the company’s 
supervisory and management bodies is under 
disclosure. It is also recommended that information 
about the amount of remuneration received from 
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the company and other income should be disclosed 
with regard to members of the company’s 
supervisory and management bodies and Chief 
Financial Officer as per Principle VIII. 

10.4. It is recommended that information about the 
links between the company and its stakeholders, 
including employees, creditors, suppliers, local 
community, as well as the company’s policy with 
regard to human resources, employee participation 
schemes in the company’s share capital, etc. 
should be disclosed when information specified in 
item 7 of Recommendation 10.1 is under 
disclosure. 

10.5. Information should be disclosed in such a 
way that neither shareholders nor investors are 
discriminated with regard to the manner or scope 
of access to information. Information should be 
disclosed to all simultaneously. It is recommended 
that notices about material events should be 
announced before or after a trading session on the 
NASDAQ OMX Vilnius, so that all the company’s 
shareholders and investors should have equal 
access to the information and make informed 
investing decisions. 

Yes  The company discloses information via NASDAQ OMX 
news distribution service so that the public in 
Lithuania and other EU countries should have equal 
access to the information. The information is 
disclosed in Lithuanian and English. 

The company publishes its information prior to or 
after the trade sessions on the NASDAQ OMX Vilnius. 
The company does not disclose information that may 
have an effect on the price of shares in the 
commentaries, interview or other ways as long as 
such information is publicly announced via NASDAQ 
OMX news distribution service. 

10.6. Channels for disseminating information 
should provide for fair, timely and cost-efficient 
access to relevant information by users. It is 
recommended that information technologies should 
be employed for wider dissemination of 
information, for instance, by placing the 
information on the company’s website. It is 
recommended that information should be published 
and placed on the company’s website not only in 
Lithuanian, but also in English, and, whenever 
possible and necessary, in other languages as well. 

Yes The information is disclosed in Lithuanian and English 
simultaneously via NASDAQ OMX news distribution 
service. It is also published on company’s website. 

10.7. It is recommended that the company’s annual 
reports and other periodical accounts prepared by 
the company should be placed on the company’s 
website. It is recommended that the company 
should announce information about material events 
and changes in the price of the company’s shares 
on the Stock Exchange on the company’s website 
too. 

Yes The company publishes all information indicated in 
this recommendation on its website. 

Principle XI: The selection of the Company’s auditor 

The mechanism of the selection of the Company’s auditor should ensure independence of the firm of 
auditor’s conclusion and opinion. 

11.1. An annual audit of the company’s financial 
reports and interim reports should be conducted by 
an independent firm of auditors in order to provide 
an external and objective opinion on the company’s 
financial statements. 

Yes The annual Company’s and consolidated financial 
statements and consolidated annual report are 
conducted by the independent audit company. The 
interim financial statements are not conducted by the 
audit company.  

11.2. It is recommended that the company’s 
Supervisory Board and, where it is not set up, the 
company’s Board should propose a candidate firm 
of auditors to the General Shareholders’ Meeting. 

Yes The candidate audit company is suggested to the 
General Shareholders’ Meeting by the Board. 
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11.3. It is recommended that the company should 
disclose to its shareholders the level of fees paid to 
the firm of auditors for non-audit services rendered 
to the company. This information should be also 
known to the company’s Supervisory Board and, 
where it is not formed, the company’s Board upon 
their consideration which firm of auditors to 
propose for the General Shareholders’ Meeting. 

Not 
applicable 

The audit company does not provide non-audit 
services to the Company. 

 

 

 

 




